Agenda - Local Government and Housing Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 3 Catherine Hunt

Meeting date: 13 March 2024 Committee Clerk

Meeting time: 09.00 0300 200 6565

SeneddHousing@senedd.wales

(Pre-meeting 08.45 - 09.00)

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest
(09.00)

2  Private rented sector - Evidence session 5
(09.00 - 09.50) (Pages 1 - 38)
Ben Leonard, Senior Remote Organiser and Policy and Research Officer, Acorn
UK Renters Union
Ben Twomey, Chief Executive, Generation Rent
Elizabeth Taylor, Engagement and Policy Officer, TPAS Cymru
Orla Tarn, President, NUS Wales

3 Private rented sector - Evidence session 6
(09.50 - 10.40) (Pages 39 - 67)
J) Costello, Head of Housing Services, Shelter Cymru
Debbie Thomas, Head of Policy and Communications, Crisis
Steffan Evans, Head of Policy (Poverty), Bevan Foundation

Darren Baxter, Principal Policy Adviser, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

(Break 10.40 - 10.50)

4 Private rented sector - Evidence session 7
(10.50 - 11.40) (Pages 68 - 91)

’F‘f// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



6.1

6.2

6.3

Steven Bletsoe, Wales Operations Manager, National Residential Landlords
Association
Timothy Douglas, Head of Policy and Campaigns, PropertyMark

Richard Rowntree, Managing Director, Paragon Bank

Private rented sector - Evidence session 8

(11.40-12.10) (Pages 92 - 108)
James Hickman, Head of Outreach Projects, Dogs Trust

Billie-Jade Thomas, Senior Public Affairs Manager, RSPCA

Annabel Berdy, Senior Advocacy and Government Relations Officer, Cats

Protection

Papers to note

Letter from the Minister for Climate Change - Welsh Government Draft
Budget 2024-25

(Pages 109 -111)
Additional evidence from Dr Edith England and Dr Josie Henley - Private
rented sector

(Pages 112 - 113)
Letter from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to the
Minister for Climate Change - Legislative Consent Memorandum - Renters
(Reform) Bill

(Page 114)

Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the

public from the remainder of the meeting

Private rented sector - Consideration of evidence
(12.10 - 12.20)

Social housing supply - Approach to engagement
(12:20 - 12:30) (Pages 115 -117)



By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a Ite m 2

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



Papur 1/ Paper 1

Submission of evidence: Local Government and Housing Committee Consultation
into the Private Rented Sector

Written by Anny Cullum, ACORN Policy Officer and Brandon Evans, ACORN Administrative
Assistant — anny.cullum@acorntheunion.org.uk, acorntheunion.org.uk

Introduction

ACORN is a tenant’s union with a branch in Cardiff and members across Wales. This
evidence has been informed by a recent survey we undertook of private renters from
mid-April — beginning of May 2023, along with the experiences of our members as tenants
and campaigners aiming to improve the sector for tenants. This submission focuses on
points 1, 4 and 5 of the committee’s inquiry as this is where we feel we have the greatest
expertise to offer.

1. The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector.

a) Supply

We asked survey respondents to tell us all the barriers to entry they had found when trying
to find a new home to rent.

e 80% of respondents said that on going to arrange a booking, the property had
already been let.

e 35% of respondents said there were a lack of options within reasonable distance of
their place of work or education.

We asked tenants, on being served with an eviction notice tomorrow, how confident they
would be of finding a similar rental property available in their current area. 85% expressed
doubt they would be able to.

“We were served a section 21 and there was nothing affordable in the county that was suitable for us and a cat”

“I feel | have to accept poor quality housing due to scarcity. My landlady knows she can act with impunity.”
b) Quality

We asked survey respondents whether they had lived with any of the 29 *fit for human
habitation’ tests in the last 5 years, and whether they are living with any of these hazards
now.

98.37% had lived with a hazard in the last 5 years and 78.7% are living with a hazard now.

For both questions, damp and mould was the most common problem, followed by low
temperatures, domestic hygiene issues with the dwelling, and difficulties with keeping the
property secure against unauthorised entry. Ingestion of lead, exposure to radiation, and
exposure to uncontrolled fire due to disrepair were the least reported issues. Please see
appendix 1 for the breakdown of responses for each hazard.

Pack Page 25 1


mailto:anny.cullum@acorntheunion.org.uk

We asked tenants to consider the physical conditions of their homes and answer whether
they felt they were getting value for money. 40% of respondents disagreed, or strongly
disagreed with this. 38.3% had no strong feelings either way, while only 21.7% agreed or
strongly agreed.

We asked respondents whether they had ever feared reporting an issue due to the threat of
eviction, and whether they had ever been served an eviction notice for reporting an issue.

67.2% had feared reporting an issue incase of eviction, with 23% saying they had actually
been served with an eviction notice in response to reporting an issue.

“Had no hot water for 3 months in the middle of winter, was only able to get out of the contract by threatening to sue the
landlord who refused to fix the condemned boiler.”

“I have fallen downstairs twice until my landlord had them brought up to standard. | had to get environmental health out to
report my house. My landlord has increased rent for basic amenities like a working toilet, a vent and | have been harassed and
insulted by him. Some repairs are outstanding.”

c) Affordability

We asked tenants to what extent they agree with the statement ‘My private rented home is
good value for money’.

Over half (55.7%) disagreed or strongly disagreed with only 13.1% agreeing to some extent.

In addition to this, we asked survey respondents how much of their income is spent on rent.
The largest response was the 32.8% of people who said they spend between 31-40% of
their income. Next, was 21.3% of people who spend between 21-30% of their income on
rent. The third largest response was for the 18% of people who spend between 51-60% of
their monthly income on rent. Please see appendix 2 for a further breakdown of the results
for this question.

Finally, on the subject of affordability, we asked respondents what barriers to entry they had
found when attempting to find a new home to rent.

e 35% said another tenant offered more.

e 40% said they were asked to pay several months rent in advance

e 25% said they could not provide a guarantor.

“Rent has consistently eaten over half my wage for the entire time I've been working in Cardiff. | cannot afford to buy a house
because rent is so expensive.”

“The rent increase eats into other essentials such as energy bills and food.”

4. Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young
people and people with pets.

We asked respondents what barriers they had experienced when trying to rent a new home.
Highly featured, was a lack of homes that allow pets with 43.3% of people experiencing this

issue.

Other key issues seem to be based around guarantors, credit checks and references. With
25% saying they couldn’t provide a guarantor, 8.3% being unable to pass a credit check, and

Pack Page 26 2



a further 8.3% said it was their first time renting and could not provide references. Please
see appendix 3 for a breakdown of the different issues tenants faced.

“It was so difficult arranging even a viewing - we had to hand over so much personal info before we could even take a look at a
flat. Every agent wanted to see our tax returns, P60s, credit scores etc in order to consider us for a viewing.”

“We were often told that the viewings were full. We were encouraged by the estate agents to bid over the asking price - and
then refused and offered the house indicating they were lying about other prospective tenants.”

5. How effectively the private rented sector is regulated.
a) Rent Smart Wales

We asked respondents whether they had ever reported a problem with their landlord or
letting agent to Rent Smart Wales. Of the 9.8% who had, 50% said that Rent Smart
didn’t act to solve their issue and 50% said they didn’t know whether Rent Smart had
done anything to solve their issue.

100% of respondents who had contacted Rent Smart Wales said they found them
unhelpful and 60% of those people said they found Rent Smart extremely unhelpful.

“Issues with my landlord threatening illegal eviction and harassment such as threatening to change the locks were reported
including written evidence. The reply from RSW was that they would look into it but were unable to let me know the outcome
due to GDPR rules. My landlord continued to be licensed and he never mentioned RSW contacting him so | presume they took
little if any action.”

b) Environmental Health

We also asked respondents whether they had ever reported a problem with their local
environmental health team. Of the 26.7% of respondents who had reported a problem to
Environmental Health, 43.75% said they had helped to resolve the issue.

31.3% of respondents who had reported an issue to Environmental Health said they

found them to be helpful overall. 62.6% said they found them to be unhelpful overall.

Lots of the further comments indicated a reluctance to report issues to Environmental
Health for fear of eviction.

“I wouldn't report my landlord to RSW or Environmental Health for fear of retaliation.”
“I've been living with severe leaks. Water pouring out of the ceiling, through a roof, through a very poorly built roof, and a wall (3

different rooms) This isn't mentioned. It's been going on for years in the property | live in but due to the likelihood of eviction |
didn't contact EVH. I've been evicted for that before.”

Recommendations

In order to improve the quality of homes and encourage tenants to report their issues to
enforcement agencies, laws must be brought in to end no fault evictions and to stop
landlords from being able to hike rents. Tenants are still living in fear of these measures and
they are standing in the way of necessary repairs and fair treatment.

Pack Page 27 3



Letting agents and landlords must be legally deterred from discriminating against different
groups looking for a new home. The amount of rent that can be asked for in advance of
moving into a new home should be capped at one month and bidding wars should be
outlawed, put mystery shop style spot checks in place to crack down on offending agencies.

Pack Page 28



APPENDIX 1 - Hazards

% experienced in the last 5

Type of hazard years
Exposure to mould, damp, fungal growth or mites

Exposure to excessively low temperatures

Domestic hygiene problems with the dwelling: Poor design,
layout or construction such that the dwelling cannot readily
be kept clean; Exposure to pests; An inadequate provision
for the hygienic storage and disposal of household waste

Exposure to excessive noise
Exposure to excessively high temperatures
Electrical hazards

Difficulties in keeping the dwelling secure against
unauthorised entry (for example broken locks, doors or
windows)

Problems being able to maintain personal hygiene: An
inadequate provision of: facilities for maintaining good
personal hygiene; sanitation and drainage

Problems with the position, location and operability of
amenities, fittings and equipment

Overcrowding or a lack of adequate space for living and
sleeping

A lack of adequate lighting

Falls due to disrepair associated with toilets, baths, showers
or other washing facilities

Poor design leading to collision with, or entrapment of body
parts in, doors, windows or other architectural features

The collapse of the whole or part of the dwelling including
falling elements

Exposure to asbestos fibres or manufactured mineral fibres
Falls due to disrepair on surfaces
Falls due to disrepair on stairs, steps or ramps

Exposure to carbon monoxide; nitrogen dioxide; or sulphur
dioxide

Exposure to volatile organic compounds

Falling from one surface to another (including falling from
height)

Exposure to uncombusted fuel gas

An inadequate supply of water free from contamination, for
drinking and other domestic purposes

Ingestion of lead

Pack Page 29

85.2
63.9

50.8
34.4
32.8
32.8

26.2

231

23

16.4

14.8

9.8

9.8

6.6
6.6
6.6

3.3
3.3

3.3
1.6

1.6

% living with
hazard now

57.4
24.6

213
6.6
9.8
8.2

9.8

3.3

16.4

6.6
8.2

1.6

6.6

1.6

1.6
1.6
4.9



Exposure to radiation

Exposure to uncontrolled fire and associated smoke due to
disrepair

Contact with: controlled fire or flames; hot objects, liquid or
vapours, due to disrepair

An explosion at the dwelling
None of the above

Not sure

APPENDIX 2 - Proportion of income spent on rent

Proportion of income spent on rent % of respondants

0-10% 0
11 -20% 4.9
21-30% 21.3
31-40% 32.8
41-50% 9.8
51 -60% 18
61-70% 6.6
71-80% 1.6
81-90% 1.6
Over 90% 3.3

APPENDIX 3 - Barriers to finding a new privately rented home as reported by
respondents who have moved house in the last 5 years

Barrier to finding a new home % of respondents

Called to arrange a viewing and told the home had

already been let 81.355

Advert that said 'professionals only'/'no DSS'
Lack of accessible homes on offer

Advert that said no families

Another tenant offered more money

Asked to pay several months rent in advance
Couldn't provide a guarantor

Lack of options near my work/college

Lack of options near my children's schools

Lack of homes that allow pets

Lots of housing has been converted into holiday lets

Pack Page 30

45.76
33.89

3.38
35.59
40.67
25.42
35.59

1.69
44.06

33.89

1.6

21.3
4.9



First time renting and couldn't give a previous
reference 8.47

Didn't pass the credit check 8.47

Pack Page 31



Papur 2 / Paper 2

19 May 2023
Generation Rent Submission to Senedd Private Rented Sector Consultation
The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector;

Ultimately, supply of housing in general must be addressed through a housebuilding programme
which includes social housing as a core objective.

As is the case throughout the UK, this failure of supply to keep pace with demand across all tenure
types has led to overstretched demand within the private rented sector and thus rents which are
increasingly unaffordable.

The prominence of holiday lets and short term rentals in Wales is a driver of this, and we commend
the changes introduced to combat this. The outcomes must be monitored and assessed regularly to
ensure that they are having the desired effect.

There is relatively little data available about the quality of private rented homes in Wales, compared
with England. We do know that energy efficiency is a significant factor in terms of both thermal
comfort and common problems such as damp and mould. ONS data indicates that private rented
homes in Wales have the joint worst energy efficiency at a regional level —a median rating of 63
along with Yorkshire.!

According to StatsWales, just 42% of PRS homes had adequate energy performance —the same
proportion of owner-occupied homes and far fewer than the social sector where 69% were adequate
according to the Welsh Housing Conditions Survey 2017/18.

Wales’s recent reforms to evictions have created a protection from no-fault eviction for tenants
whose property is in disrepair. This was intended to improve tenants’ confidence to report issues
with their homes to the landlord or letting agent by removing the fear of a revenge eviction. It is too
early to say what difference this is making to security of tenure or the quality of the Welsh PRS.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords;

The wider financial context, including vastly higher interest rates, that we have seen since the end of
the pandemic have made things difficult for landlords but there remains no compelling evidence
either that landlords are leaving the market in significant numbers. If more landlords do exit the
market, the short term problem will be the eviction of their tenants, which tends to happen in such
cases. However, in the long run this won’t affect supply where homes continue to be lived in, and if
private renters become home owners, there is dampened demand for rentals.

We must acknowledge that holiday lets are an issue in this context, as they are often a more
attractive proposition for landlords and an exodus to this sector would have a significant impact on
the homes available for long-term accommodation. We have yet to see how recent policy changes
have made an impact in this space. As of 2022 the number of holiday lets registered for business
rates (recorded by the Valuation Office) were at all-time highs, having more than doubled since 2015.
In the current financial year more second homes than ever are registered for council tax, with only
Pembrokeshire, which charges a 100% premium, having seen a fall from the previous year, from
3,794 to 3,492.

1

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/currentandpotentialenergyefficie
ncyofhousingenglandandwales

Pack Page 32



The opportunities for greater partnership working between social and private landlords;
N/A

Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young people and
people with pets;

The benefit system is a hinderance to young people. LHA for under-35s only covers enough for a
room in a shared house, which is not suitable for many. Benefit payments are also often not counted
towards income in agents’ vetting processes, hamstringing tenants’ ability to access housing even if
the amount received is sufficient. 99 percent of available homes in Wales in 2022 would have been
too expensive for someone on Universal Credit or housing benefit to afford, according to the Bureau
of Investigative Journalism.

People with pets continue to suffer from blanket bans and an inability to access tenancies, especially
in such a competitive market.

It is clear that a sustained failure to build enough, particularly social housing, is another key barrier
to young people’s access to housing.

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated;

The mechanisms in place as a result of Rent Smart Wales are broadly positive and an improvement
on the current situation in England. Requiring landlords to be registered is essential as a means to
identify who is responsible for meeting minimum standards and holding them accountable. However,
it is not clear how much non-compliance there is and whether tenants have much of an incentive to
report non-compliant landlords. In the financial year 2022-23 the property tribunal heard just two
rent repayment order cases and one of them was brought by RSW itself.?2 While the rent repayment
orders in place for non-compliance are welcome, we would urge the Welsh Government to consider
how to promote their existence.

The government should also consider how this system can be built upon to enable a better
understanding of the rental market to be garnered. For example, information around rents, deposit
claim history and energy efficiency could easily be collected and this would provide data which could
be used to inform further policymaking, specifically around abuse of the deposit dispute system by
landlords, the state of the rental prices in certain areas and the energy efficiency of the housing stock
(and thus the best measures to improve it.)

The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved.

Rent Smart Wales should consider running an annual survey to collect further data bespoke to the
needs, queries and concerns of tenants and the local authority.

As mentioned above, RSW should also hold more information as standard, including rents, deposit
claim history and energy efficiency.

The utility of RSW should also be assessed, including analysing how much is RSW used, and by whom
— ie. how many searches have been done — as well as the numbers of landlords estimated to be non-
compliant. The results of that information gathering exercise should be used to strengthen
enforcement with more targeted measures aimed at those estimated to be missing/evading the
system.

2 https://residentialpropertytribunal.gov.wales/decisions/4/2022-04--2023-04

Pack Page 33



Papur 3 / Paper 3

u. 2nd Floor
n Cambrian Buildings
Wales Mount Stuart Square

national union of students Cardiff CF10 5FL
[£/02920 435 390
[& office@nus-wales.org.uk
www.nus.org.uk

The National Union of Students Wales (NUS Wales)
response to the Senedd’s Local Government and Housing
Committee inquiry into the private rented sector

About NUS Wales:

National Union of Students Wales (NUS Wales) is the representative body of
more than 250,000 students, learners and apprentices in Wales. We work on
behalf of 20 member students’ unions and colleges on the issues that affect

students in higher education and further education.

The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in
the private rented sector

1. A culture of complacency and perceived 'rite of passage’ of students
to live in poor quality housing, means that poor conditions in
students’ homes are entrenched within our society and have been
for decades. It is NUS Wales’ view that only fundamental reform,
led in partnership with students and other key stakeholders, will
deliver the desired change.

2. In addition to responding to the inquiry questions, NUS Wales has
included testimonials from students throughout the response to
best reflect their experience of the private rental housing sector in
Wales.

3. Research from SOS-UK! (Students Organising for Sustainability
UK), published in April 2023, revealed that 70% of university
students in Wales had damp or mould in their current
accommodation. Furthermore, the study found that 65% of
students felt "uncomfortably cold” at home and almost half said this
had a negative effect on their studies.

4. This has a detrimental impact on the health and wellbeing of
student tenants. NUS Wales’ Broken Foundations Report? -

1 SOS-UK is a student-led education charity focusing on sustainability. Homes Fit for Study 2023
research here: https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study
2 https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy and_research/broken-foundations-fix-student-housing/

Pack Page 34

National Union Of Students (United Kingdom). Company No. 08015198.



https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy_and_research/broken-foundations-fix-student-housing/

completed alongside Shelter Cymru in 2022 - found that 65% of
students said issues with their accommodation had a negative
impact on their mental health and wellbeing. The report also
highlighted that for more than a third (35%) of students
accommodation had a negative impact on their physical health.

"My room is so cold and humid that mould started
spreading from the walls to my clothes. There’s drafts
even with the windows closed and it’s so cold that the
heating barely helps” - Cardiff student, private rented
accommodation

"Our heating broke and we went days without heating and hot
water in the middle of winter. They finally put new windows into
our flat after complaining in September that the window was
broken and meant we both got sick because of mould and our
stuff was also covered with mould.” - Bangor student, private
rented accommodation

5. Students are among the worst affected by poorly insulated
accommodation, as some multi-occupancy properties (HMOs)
are exempt from the EPC requirements under the law.3

6. Moreover, student accommodation prices have increased by
61% in the last decade which means they are paying more for
housing which is falling in standard.* SOS-UK research found
that almost three quarters of students are spending less money
on food to meet rental costs and around half are borrowing
money from friends and family to pay bills.> Rent is being
pushed up because of issues in the wider market. Students are
struggling to find accommodation - with many ‘sofa-surfing’, or
commuting long distances to attend campus - and are being
forced into paying large sums of money upfront as they compete
with their peers to secure properties.

7. A shrinking rental market and growing demand is seeing
increased competition amongst would-be tenants. This pushes
prices up, creates an imbalance of power between landlord and
tenant, and forces young people into substandard living
conditions to avoid homelessness.

"We have students commuting from Manchester, Liverpool,
most of Northern England actually due to a lack of suitable

3 https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study
4 https://www.unipol.org.uk/news/accommodation-costs-survey-2021-launched
5 https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study

Pack Page 35


https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study
https://www.unipol.org.uk/news/accommodation-costs-survey-2021-launched
https://www.sos-uk.org/research/homes-fit-for-study

accommodation for students in the city” - Undeb Bangor
Sabbatical Officer, Bangor University.

8. Students’ Unions have also reported international students
arriving to the Students’ Union, new to the country, asking
for accommodation because they were unable to find some
on their own. In Cardiff in September 2021, international
students were forced to return to their home countries and
take interruptions of study (defer their places) due to lack
of suitable accommodation; this situation did not improve
this academic year.

Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including
challenges facing young people and people with pets

9. The practice of requiring a UK Homeowner Guarantor remains a
significant barrier to students accessing private rented
accommodation. International students, postgraduate research
students (e.g., those studying for a PhD), estranged students and
care leavers have all reported challenges in securing affordable
property near their institution. While universities often offer
guarantor services, whereby they can act as a guarantor for
students, these services are limited.

10. International students are less likely to have links to UK
homeowners and have reported being asked for 6 months of rent
upfront in lieu of a guarantor. This significantly limits their choice of
accommodation and leaves them vulnerable to exploitation.
International students find their housing quality is low and landlords
have little incentive to keep up to date with basic maintenance
because rent was paid upfront.

"It is incredibly difficult to find a house without a
homeowner guarantor, which is almost impossible to get
as an estranged student from a low-income area.”

"My PhD stipend does not count as income to most
agencies. As an international student, I've therefore had
to take out loans to cover upfront rent costs because the
agencies have refused to rent me a property without it”

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated

"My landlord suggested we went halves on the doorbell for
my flat, for which I pay £650 a month. The doorbell fell
off the wall and the landlord said he’d only replace it once,

Pack Page 36



and wouldn’t again. Obviously, I didn’t go halves on the
doorbell, I put my foot down.”

11. Students feel exploited by landlords, and claim they

12.

13.

14.

struggle to get basic repairs completed. NUS Wales spoke
to one student whose bedroom was deemed ‘unfit for
human habitation’ by Environmental Health because of
mould. In response, the letting agency built a new wall in
front of the existing, mouldy, exterior wall. While this
improved the aesthetics of the room, it did not fix the
underlying issue, and this student said they continued to
become ill as a result of the conditions they were living in.

Students have told NUS Wales they feel powerless to
take action against their landlords, and, due to a shortage
of student housing, need to just ‘put up with’ the
conditions:

"We moved in in July and they said that the previous
tenants hadn’t looked after it, but the landlord said that
was our problem to sort out and clean up” - Cardiff

student, paying £350 per person per month (pppm) (bills
not included).

At the end of tenancies, students face additional
obstacles in getting their deposits returned. Many claim
landlords deduct significant amounts from their deposits to
cover natural wear and tear, or to cover cleaning costs
where the house has already been cleaned.

"I moved into my friend’s old house this year - my mate
had been charged £80 per person in a 3-bed house for a
professional clean off their deposit. When we moved in
the house was filthy - my mate’s ‘end of tenancy’ photos
showed they had left it clean. The landlord clearly had
not had the house cleaned - in fact it looked like someone
had come in to do the opposite.” - Bangor student, £320
pppm (bills not included)

Students are often first-time renters, with limited
experience of the private rented sector. It is felt, both by
Students’ Unions and students themselves, that landlords
take advantage of this, assuming students do not know
their rights.

"My landlord completely withheld my deposit for two

months after we moved out. We spoke to our Students’
Union who said we could raise disputes with the deposit

Pack Page 37



protection service. The second we told the agency this is
what we were doing, our deposit was returned in full.” -
3rd year student, Swansea University

Pack Page 38




Papur 4 / Paper 4

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SHELTER
CYMRU

Shelter Cymru’s response to the Local Government and Housing
Committee inquiry into the private rented sector

May 2023
About Shelter Cymru

Shelter Cymru exists to defend the right to a safe home, because home is everything. We
help thousands of people across all of Wales every year who have been affected by the
housing emergency by offering free, confidential and independent advice. When
necessary, we constructively challenge on behalf of people to ensure that they are
properly assisted, and to improve practice and learning. We work with people who use
our services as equals. We provide information, advice and support to help people
identify the best options to prevent homelessness, to find and keep a home and to help
them take back control of their own lives. We fight the devastating impact the housing
emergency has on our people and communities with campaigning, advice and support -

and we never give up.
Introduction

Shelter Cymru welcomes the opportunity to provide evidence to this inquiry into the
private rented sector in Wales. Our thoughts have been shaped by our extensive housing
advice casework across Wales and first-hand experience of working with households
living in privately rented accommodation. We have also met with our Back the Bill’
partners, CIH Cymru and Tai Pawb, to share thoughts on our responses and to provide

support to our submissions. Generation Rent have also shared their submission with us.

Giving advice to private sector tenants accounts for a significant proportion of Shelter
Cymru's case work. During the first three months of 2023 alone we gave advice to 1133
households living in the private rented sector, accounting for 35% of our total caseload.
This doesn't include the many more who seek support from us after finding themselves

in the homelessness system due to the loss of a private rented sector tenancy.

1 https://www.taipawb.org/policy-influencing/backthebill/

1
Pack Page 39


https://www.taipawb.org/policy-influencing/backthebill/

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I[']E

A note on the role of privately rented accommodation in our housing market

Before we turn to the terms of reference for this inquiry, we wanted to take the
opportunity to reflect on the role of the private rented sector and how it is currently

positioned in our pressurised housing market.

The 2021 census revealed a 155% increase in the number of households renting privately
in Wales over the last 20 years, accounting for an extra 139,000 households. This sits in
stark contrast to an increase of only 2% in owner occupation and the 3% increase in

households living in social housing.

The option to rent privately may have previously been taken by those making an active
choice for short-term flexibility, or to enable residence in a particular area for lifestyle
or convenience. It was the tenure of conscious choice for people looking to establish
themselves in a new area before committing to a property purchase, or for someone

relocating for a short term job opportunity.

We now regularly hear reference to the private rented sector as the tenure of last resort
for those unable to afford home ownership due to rising house prices and households

who would have some priority for social housing if only there was sufficient supply.

The private rented sector has grown to fill the gaps elsewhere and respond to demand
whilst also representing a sound business decision for investing landlords. Meanwhile,
households in need of long term, secure accommodation in their local community are in
a position of constant worry about whether their tenancy will be brought to an end and

when they will need to pack up and move on again.

The recent trend of landlords looking to leave the sector due to greater requlation has
broughtinto focus our reliance on thisaccommodation option to fill the gaps which have

developed elsewhere in the housing market.

We need strategic direction from Welsh Government about the role of the private rented

sectorin our housing market, who it is for and who should be providing it.

2
Pack Page 40



CARTREF YW POPETH 7

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector

We talk a lot about the Welsh housing emergency at Shelter Cymru and can't do so
without highlighting the difficulties being faced by households living in, or looking to
secure accommodation in the private rented sector. Together with the shortage of
social housing, supply and affordability issues in the private rented sector are some of

the main drivers of homelessness in Wales.

Private renters in Wales currently face a perfect storm: the existing housing supply
emergency where social housing is like gold dust and ownership is a long way out of
reach; the highest rent increase levels outside of London; and a further squeeze on

budgets from rising utility bills and daily essentials such as food.

Supply

Lettings agents report? that there simply was not "enough houses out there for people
who want rentals." Across the UK, Zoopla®report that Lettings agencies typically had 10
available rentals in March 2023 compared to over 16 before September 2021. Meanwhile

demand had risen by more than 50%.

Supply has also been hindered by unprecedented rates of possession proceedings
across Wales as landlords serve notice to sell their properties or change their market to

holiday lets for greater returns.

The Bevan Foundation have highlighted that* on average, letting a property on Air B&B
in a tourist hotspot would take a host less than 10 weeks to obtain the same rental
income as a landlord letting their property at LHA rates for a year in all Welsh local

authorities bar Torfaen.

We continue to fight for an end to no fault evictions in Wales following a U-turn in policy

direction last year. This puts Welsh renters in a far more vulnerable position than their

2 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-65474569
3 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-65090846
4 https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/holiday-lets-and-the-prs/

3
Pack Page 41


https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-65474569
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-65090846
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/holiday-lets-and-the-prs/

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;EE

Scottish counterparts, and in England the long awaited Renters (Reform) Bill®has

recently been published after originally being discussed four years ago.

It has been reported® that every day last year more than 12 households in Wales sought
temporary accommodation after being given an eviction notice. In 2022, at least 4,500
households presented themselves to council housing teams after being issued with a

Section 21 notice.

Affordability

The search for a new home becomes even harder when looking to find accommodation
at Local Housing Allowance rates. Further research’ by the Bevan Foundation confirmed
something which we have all known but feared - the scarcity of affordable

accommodation options in the private rented sector for low income families.

Data collected from 2,638 rental adverts across Wales in February 2023, found that, in
Wales, only 32 properties advertised were available at or below LHA rates, equating to
just 1.2% of the market. 16 local authorities did not have a single property available at

LHA rates.

LHA levels have not been increased since April 2020, but we know that Wales has seen
significant rent increases® of up 10% or 11% in hotspots such as Merthyr, Rhondda Cynon
Taff, Cardiff, Newport, Vale of Glamorgan and Conwy. We've seen landlords deciding to
raise the rent by £200 a month inline with the increase in their mortgage payments ®and
have also heard of cases where tenancies have been brought to an end by a landlord so

that they are able to significantly increase the rent charged to the new tenant.

5 https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3462/publications

6 https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2023-03-27/the-huge-number-of-no-fault-evictions-last-year-and-why-
theres-a-crisis

7 https://www.bevanfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Wales-Housing-Crisis-Winter-2023.pdf
8 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-65103937

% https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-65474569

4
Pack Page 42


https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3462/publications
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-65474569

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&%E

We continue to campaign to ask MPs to support the call to unfreeze Local Housing
Allowance and lift the benefits cap as an emergency cost-of-living measure and would

call on Welsh Government to do the same. .

The shortfall in assistance with rental payments is forcing households into
homelessness as well as impacting on a local authority's ability to assist them. The
private rented sectoris a vitalaccommodation source for local authorities seeking both

temporary and permanent accommodation solutions.

Quality

Wales has some of the oldest housing stock in Western Europe, with 26% of housing
being built before 1919. Much of this older stock is used as private rented

accommodation.

Shelter Cymru research® from 2021 identified more than 1in 4 of us - around 819,000
people - are living in homes with significant damp, mould or condensation problems.
Over 1in 10(13%) - almost half a million people (409,000) - are living in homes that are not

structurally sound or have hazards such as faulty wiring or fire risks.

Poor housing conditions are unfortunately commonly associated with the private rented

sectorand much of the requlation of the past has focused on improving living standards.

From 1st December 2022 the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 sets outs the obligations
placed on a landlord with regard to the condition of a dwelling. These obligations apply
to all occupation contracts made for a term of less than seven years. A landlord under an
occupation contract is obliged to ensure a dwelling is both in repair and fit for human
habitation. This includes matters such as damp and mould growth, cold, heat, crowding

and space, entry by intruders, lighting, noise and hygiene. A landlord must keep the

Ohttps://www.itv.com/news/wales/2021-05-26/shocking-new-figures-demonstrate-scale-of-housing-crisis-in-
wales-amidst-calls-for-immediate-welsh-government-action

5
Pack Page 43


https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2021-05-26/shocking-new-figures-demonstrate-scale-of-housing-crisis-in-wales-amidst-calls-for-immediate-welsh-government-action
https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2021-05-26/shocking-new-figures-demonstrate-scale-of-housing-crisis-in-wales-amidst-calls-for-immediate-welsh-government-action

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

dwelling in repair at all times. Once the landlord is aware of the need for repairs, they

must be carried out in a reasonable time and to a reasonable standard.

We have seen increased concern in our case load about issues of damp and mould over
the past 12 months. This follows the health concerns being brought into the spotlight by
the inquest into the death of two-year old Awaab Ishak, which found that the cause was
prolonged exposure to black mould in his social housing home in Rochdale. The property
had "inadequate ventilation and was not equipped for normal day-to-day living activities

which led to excess damp and condensation."

People are also concerned about the cost of heating their home given the rise in energy
prices last year. According to the Energy Savings Trust" the private rented sectoracross
the UK has the largest proportion of the most energy inefficient homes (6.3% are F and
G rated properties, compared to around 0.7% of social housing). Nearly half (45.7%) of

households living in such properties are in fuel poverty.

The Trust acknowledges that it has not proved easy to tackle this issue, as it is landlords
who are responsible for investing in improvement measures, while it is the tenant who

benefits from the resulting reductions in fuel bills.

As of 1April 2022, allnew tenancies in the private rented sector now require the property
to have an EPC rating of at least ‘D', however where significant investment is needed this

may add more fuel to a landlord’s decision to leave the sector.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords

We totally appreciate that private sector landlords are having a challenging time at the
moment and are having to make some difficult business decisions. Rent Smart Wales
data suggest that 70% of landlords own only one property and for many that may have
been inherited or bought to supplement their income rather than property rental being

their main business focus.

11 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/minimum-energy-efficiency-standards-private-rented-sector/

6
Pack Page 44


https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/minimum-energy-efficiency-standards-private-rented-sector/

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

For these smaller landlords, increased regulation through mandatory registration, the
changesintroduced by the Renting Homes(Wales) Act and increased interest rates have

understandably led many to question whether they want to remain in the sector.

Shelter Cymru’s focus however, has to be on the households who are given notice to
leave their home, with increasing numbers turning to local authority homelessness
teams when they can't find alternative accommodation themselves. Many will go on to

also require temporary accommodation.

The opportunities for greater partnership working between social and private

landlords

The Welsh Government Leasing Scheme Wales is an excellent example of partnership
working which aims to benefit tenants, property owners and local authorities. 15 local
authorities have signed up to the Welsh Government backed scheme which offers
incentives for property owners who lease their properties to the local authority. Tenants
housed under the scheme will have longer term, secure and affordable accommodation

as well as access to a high-level of support to help maintain their tenancy.

We applaud the scheme for providing an attractive package to a landlord such as
guaranteed rent, arepairing lease, and grants for energy efficiency works. Whilst rental
payments are tied to local housing allowance rates, and the significant shortfall to
market rents exists, we question whether the scheme is attractive enough to anincome

focused landlord and whether this has hindered take up.

Shelter Cymru are aware of a number of initiatives being used by homeless prevention
teams to save tenancies in the private sector. Some look to support the landlord or
tenant to resolve issues which have led to the threat of eviction. This could include
paying off rent arrears or providing intensive support to deal with issues such as anti-
social behaviour or hoarding. Often this will be in partnership with a social landlord

service, be it the local authority themselves or a housing association.

7
Pack Page 45



> X

CARTREF YW POPETH 4

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.&E

We have also become aware of a number of authorities / associations considering
whether homelessness could be prevented through rent rescue, where the property is
purchased from the private landlord but the tenant remains in their home, becoming a
social tenant. This is happening in a least three local authority areas after putting out a
call for good practice™.

Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young
people and people with pets

Our 2022 report Can | get a home?" considered the barriers which can be faced when
trying to rent privately in Wales. With significant demand for private rented
accommodation we are very much in a market where landlords have multiple potential

tenants to consider for their property and set criteria on who they are willing to let to.

The report provides the findings of a Shelter Cymru survey of private landlords in Wales
which reveals barriers that some prospective tenants can face when trying to access

private rented homes, which makes it even more difficult for them to find a home.
The survey findings focussed on a number of barriers:

e Being a claimant of housing related benefits - Just over half (51%) of landlords

asked, or sometimes asked, prospective tenants if they are receiving benefits
and over athird(37%)of landlords do not, or would prefer not to, let to people who
claim benefits. The report advocated that changes to the benefits system would
make it more likely for landlords to let to people claiming benefits. These changes
should include benefits for housing costs being paid directly to the landlord,
benefits being paid in advance rather than in arrears and an uplift in local housing
allowance levels to reflect higher market rents. We understand that some
mortgage lenders still stipulate that properties should not be let to benefit

recipients.

12 https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy and research/rent-rescue-homelessness-prevention-tool/
13 https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy and research/can-i-get-a-home-barriers-to-getting-a-private-rented-

home-in-wales/

8
Pack Page 46


https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy_and_research/rent-rescue-homelessness-prevention-tool/
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy_and_research/can-i-get-a-home-barriers-to-getting-a-private-rented-home-in-wales/
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy_and_research/can-i-get-a-home-barriers-to-getting-a-private-rented-home-in-wales/

CARTREF YW POPETH
HOME IS EVERYTHING SH

ELTER

CYMRU

Being homeless or moving from supported housing - Almost half of the landlords

surveyed do not, or would prefer not to, let to people who are homeless (48%) or
moving from supported housing (47%). Some commented that they had
experienced difficulties with former tenants who had been homeless or moved in
from supported housing. This had resulted in them adopting a blanket policy to
not let to people in these situations again. One landlord was quoted to say
‘homelessness is not an isolated issue, it is often related to many other issues
such as domestic abuse, substance abuse and mental health issues that are not
adequately supported by government agencies. If there was adequate support to
help homeless people overcome these issues landlords would be much happier
to have them as tenants."

Being the wrong age, being pregnant, being a transgender person, and being of a

certain religion or holding certain beliefs - Only a small minority (less than 2%) of

landlords surveyed said that they would not let a property to someone based on
their race, marital status or sexual orientation. 3% would not let to people of all
religions and beliefs, 4% would not let to transgender people and 5% said that
they would not let to a woman who was pregnant. The most significant response
was inrelation to age with 10% saying that they would not let to people of all ages.
Comments included: “Experience has taught me young people are more likely to
not pay the rent and damage the property and cause problems for the
neighbours.”

Having satisfactory financial and pre-tenancy checks - It is widely accepted

practice for up-front payments and checks to be required by landlords. Whilst
this is lawful, it can act as a significant barrier for people seeking
accommodation.72% of landlords surveyed said they require a month’s rent in
advance, and 7% require between two months and a year's rent in advance (with
almost 2% asking for six months or more). Almost three quarters (72%) required
a bond/deposit, half (50%) required an employer’s reference, with 42% requiring

a reference other than from an employer. Over half of landlords surveyed (55%)

9
Pack Page 47



N

CARTREF YW POPETH 7

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

required a credit check and almost a third (36%) required people to have a
minimum level of income.

e Having a pet- Prospective tenants can find that having a pet can significantly
restrict their opportunities and choice of housing in the private rented sector.
Over half of landlords surveyed (57%) said they don't, or would prefer not to, let to

people with pets.

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated

Most landlords would argue that they are feeling over-requlated at the moment and
would say that is causing them to consider leaving the sector. In reality we should
remember that the UK rental market has been the exception across Europe, and that
here gradual derequlation and easier access to debt finance has fuelled the rapid growth

of the sector since the turn of the century.™

Research conducted by Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research and LSE
London™suggests that a well- designed requlatory framework can have the potential to
increase the size of the sector, but only where the aim is to improve quality and reduce

costs as well as ensure reasonable rental returns for landlords.

Overall, the outcomes of requlatory regimes depend on the general context in which they
operate as well as on finding a balance between too much interference which deters
investment, and too little protection for tenants. The size of the private rented sectoris
not just an outcome of these regulatory regimes but also of the relative attractiveness

and accessibility of other tenures and the availability of other investment opportunities.

Whilst we have a structured regulatory regime for social housing providers, regulation of
the private rented sector is scattered across different mechanisms and is weaker as a
result. The makeup of the two sectors is very different but we believe that there is a lot

to be said for requlation sitting in one place.

1 https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/Summary 14.pdf
15 https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/Summary 14.pdf

10
Pack Page 48


https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/Summary_14.pdf
https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/Summary_14.pdf

CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

At present we have:

e Rent Smart Wales being responsible for mandatory registration and licencing
e The Residential Property Tribunal Wales managing rent level disputes,
management orders, licencing and housing health and safety rating disputes

e Government approved deposit protection scheme managing deposit disputes.

Enforcement starts at a local authority level however we hear from colleagues that this
isincreasingly taking more of a reactive rather than proactive approach due to the strain

on public sector budgets.

Shelter Cymru recently worked with Public Law Project on a strategic legal action to
highlight that Cardiff Council had no resource available to fulfil their duty to prosecute
illegal evictions. Following our action we understand resources are now in place at the

authority but thisis anissue that is likely to be found elsewhere.

We're not surprised that landlords feel overwhelmed by the level of scrutiny that they are
under given its complexity. At present our casework is seeing wide variations in the way
the requirements of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 have been actioned by

individual landlords, particularly in relation to converting existing tenancies.

We should remember that the situationis equally complex and overwhelming for tenants
as they navigate through different mechanisms to determine what their rights are - a

reason why many turn to us at Shelter Cymru for help.

In terms of specific rent requlation Shelter Cymru keenly await the publication of the
Welsh Government Green Paper which will call for evidence on securing a path towards
adequate housing - including fair rents and affordability. We have been cautious in our
support forrent control, wanting to see the policy position supported by a clear evidence

base. It is good to see this approach being taken.

11
Pack Page 49



CARTREF YW POPETH

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.;I;E

The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved
The lack of reliable data in relation to the private rented sector has long been a concern
for us. Robust data collection is essential to inform future policy decisions and monitor

their impact.

The high number of households receiving Section 21 notices who are turning to us for
advice gives us an indication that landlords are deciding to remove their properties from
the sector, but we don't know for certain the scale of their departure, whether there are
geographical differences across Wales or what those properties are becoming. The
most recent Census has given us an updated snapshot of what the sector looks like, but

that is 12-months out of date at the point which it is published.

Local housing allowance levels are not covering the rents being charged but with no
consistent data collection on rent levels, we are in the dark about what the realities of
the shortfall are. Online lettings portals only tell us part of the story for properties which
have actually been listed, and then only the advertised asking rent rather than the level

agreed contractually.

We also have concerns about the methodology used by Rent Officers Wales to conduct
rent valuations which inform local housing allowance levels. Landlords provide rent
information on a voluntary basis which is then combined with data held by local authority

housing benefit departments. This is not captured rent data from across the market.

There were missed opportunities in the early days of Rent Smart Wales regarding the
data that was collected as part of the registration and licencing process. Calls to collect
rental information at the point of application or renewal were not listened to when the
licencing authority was established. We understand that further data collection to
enable informed policy making is now being considered and we very much support this

as the logical place for it to happen.

12
Pack Page 50



CARTREF YW POPETH 7

HOME IS EVERYTHING SH&I'.&E

We are also pleased to see that statistical dashboards are being made available on the
Rent Smart Wales website™® regarding the number of registered properties and energy
performance. The breakdown of this information at a local authority level is particularly

useful and we hope to see further access to the information they hold about:

e The propertiesin the sector - property type, number of bedrooms etc.
e The tenants - number of people in each household, single or multiple household

e Thelandlords - type or organisation, number of properties registered.

We also wonder if there are plans for Rent Smart Wales data to be made available

through Stats Wales at some point in the future.

16 https://rentsmart.gov.wales/en/registeredpropertiesdashboard/

13
Pack Page 51


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue
https://rentsmart.gov.wales/en/registeredpropertiesdashboard/

r 1
Gyda'n gilydd
byddwn yn
rhoi terfyn ar
ddigartrefedd
Together
we will end
homelessness

Papur 5 / Paper 5

Senedd Local Government and Housing Committee
Inquiry into the Private Rented Sector (PRS) May 2023
Crisis response

About Crisis

Crisis is the national charity for people facing homelessness across Wales,
Scotland and England. We know that homelessness is not inevitable, and we
know that together, we can end it.

We provide services directly to people experiencing homelessness, carry out
research into the causes and consequences of homelessness, and campaign for
the changes needed to end it.

Introduction

Crisis believes that people experiencing or at risk of homelessness should be able
to access a range of housing options, enabling them to exercise choice over the
features of a home which meet their needs and preferences. For many people,
renting privately is the most suitable housing option and they need access to
good quality, well managed, affordable PRS homes.

However, we know that there is currently an undersupply of affordable, quality
housing in the PRS in Wales, and this is directly contributing to homelessness.

At our Crisis Skylight centre in South Wales, we work in partnership with a
number of private sector landlords to secure homes and prevent evictions for our
members across Swansea, Neath, and Port Talbot. However, many of our
members still face a number of barriers to accessing and sustaining tenancies in
the PRS. Further, as part of our role as convenor of the Welsh Government Expert
Review Panel for the reform of homelessness legislation, we have engaged with
multiple stakeholders across Wales who report that they are experiencing the
same problems.

We are therefore pleased that the Committee is investigating this area, and prior
to addressing the terms of reference of the inquiry, we would like to offer five key
recommendations for consideration.

Crisis recommendations
1. Increase Local Housing Allowance

In Crisis’ view, the quickest way to increase the supply of affordable housing is to
urgently invest in Local Housing Allowance rates so they cover at least the
bottom third of rents. Investing in housing benefit would make it more affordable
for people to stay in their current homes, preventing homelessness, and make it
easier for those currently experiencing homelessness to find a suitable home,
ensuring their homelessness is brief.

We are grateful for both the Committee and the Welsh Government's recent

support of this recommendation and advise that the Welsh Government
continues to raise this issue with counterparts in Westminster.

Pack Page 52



2. Stabilise rents

Any investment into or reform of benefits should be complemented with rent
stabilisation linked to an inflationary measure. Crisis would suggest that the
Committee considers a recommendation to limit rent increases to average wage
growth. This would make tenancies more sustainable and ensure that people who
have experienced homelessness in the past are less likely to be forced into
homelessness again in the future.

It is important to note here that Crisis would not be supportive of hard rent
controls that freeze rents completely for a specified time period — our research
suggests that this type of intervention risks creating longer-term problems for the
people most at risk of homelessness and their access to affordable housing. For
example, there is potential for this to encourage a mass of rent rises prior to such
a measure coming into effect.

3. Extend the functions of Rent Smart Wales

As part of the Welsh Government's review of Rent Smart Wales, the function of
Rent Smart Wales should be extended to include detailed data collection and
greater provision of training for landlords on how to support tenants. All PRS
landlords should be legally required to submit annual rent data to Rent Smart
Wales and to complete training on working with vulnerable private tenants.

4. Widen access for groups at risk of homelessness

There are multiple barriers to accessing and sustaining tenancies in the PRS,
particularly for low-income households and groups that face barriers specific to a
protected characteristic or life experience. The Welsh Government must consider
interventions to break these barriers and reduce the increased risk of
homelessness for these groups.

5. Continue investment in social housing

Given the undersupply of social housing in Wales, the PRS is currently the
Tesidual tenure which absorbs demand from people who need social housing
but cannot access it. The Welsh Government must continue to work to address
ongoing barriers and meet its social housing building targets to alleviate pressure
on the PRS.

Inquiry terms of reference: Crisis response

The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented
sector

The undersupply of good quality homes that are genuinely affordable to people
on low incomes is causing and prolonging homelessness. Many people are stuck
in temporary accommodation for several months, and in some cases, years, due
to lack of suitable options to move into permanent homes.

Pack Page 53



Supply
The supply of residential lets is threatened by the profitability available to

landlords in the short-term let sector. The Bevan Foundation report that several
landlords are leaving the private residential rental sector in search of bigger profits
and reduced regulation in the short-term holiday rental sector. The number of
Airbnb properties in Wales increased by 53% between 2018-2022, with coastal
and mountainous areas being the most affected. In Gwynedd, for example, Airbnb
properties represent almost a third of all private rented sector stock.

In all local authorities bar Torfaen, a landlord could generate more income in
under 10 weeks by letting their property on Airbnb than they could earn via
letting their property at LHA rate for a whole year.!

In addition to overall supply issues, there are specific issues with undersupply of
the types of accommodation required to meet the demands of the population.
For example, there is a lack of one-bedroom properties and properties suitable for
people with disabilities.

Affordability
Rightmove estimated that rents rose by 15.1% in Wales between 2021-20222,

meaning that Wales faces the second fastest growing rent costs in Great Britain,
surpassed only by London. Recent research from the Bevan Foundation suggests
that less than 2% of private rented homes in Wales are affordable to low-income
renters and that many local authorities do not have any properties available for
rent at LHA rates.®

Quality
The Welsh Housing Conditions Survey which provides information about the

condition and energy efficiency/performance of all types and tenures of housing
in Wales was last conducted in 2018. Crisis would recommend that this survey is
repeated to get a better sense of the national standards of quality across the PRS
in Wales.

Whilst the introduction of the Fitness for Habitation Standard in the Renting
Homes Act 2016 is a positive step towards improving the quality of the PRS, we
are concerned that without enforcement, the standard will not result in
improvement of quality. This issue is explored further with regard to regulation on
Page 7 of this response.

At our Crisis Skylight centre in South Wales, we support our members to secure
tenancies in the PRS, but many of the properties available to them are of such
poor quality that they are not a sustainable route out of homelessness.

For example, two of our members rented rooms in an extremely poor-quality
shared house in Swansea. There were exposed wires, bare floorboards and broken
locks — see photos in Appendix A. The rent was £450 per room per month, which

! The Bevan Foundation. (2022). Holiday lets and the private rental sector.

2 Rightmove. (2022). The Rightmove Rental Trends Tracker.

3 The Bevan Foundation. (2023). Wales Housing Crisis: Local Housing Allowance and the private
rental market in Wales, Winter 2023

Pack Page 54



https://www.bevanfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Holiday-lets-and-the-private-rental-sector.pdf
https://www.rightmove.co.uk/news/content/uploads/2022/07/Rental-Trends-Tracker-Q2-2022-Final.pdf
Wales-Housing-Crisis-Winter-2023.pdf%20(bevanfoundation.org)
Wales-Housing-Crisis-Winter-2023.pdf%20(bevanfoundation.org)

is around £36 more than our members were receiving in Housing Benefit each
month. If they had been under 35 years old and only entitled to the shared
accommodation rate of LHA, the shortfall would have been £200 per month.

Another of our members went to view a property to find somebody sleeping in
the bedroom they were viewing. There were holes in the walls and the bedroom
was covered in rubbish.

One of our members was renting a flat which had a rat infestation at the front of
the property and at one point, a snake came up the drainpipe. The front door to
the property was broken and the landlord refused to pay for it to be fixed.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords

The benefits system

The roll-out of Universal Credit included the consolidation of payments to be
monthly single payments, with a five week wait before the first payment. This
five-week wait has been linked to a rise in rent arrears, which may discourage
landlords from letting to low-income households.*

If people in receipt of benefits had easier access to direct rent payments in
Universal Credit and the five-week wait was replaced with a starter payment, this
might increase PRS landlords’ faith in the benefits system and encourage more
landlords to let to low-income households.

Lack of understanding of vulnerable tenants

Private landlords have a vital role in housing people in Wales, and this includes
people who may be vulnerable. There are many reasons why people renting in
the PRS could be vulnerable. They might, for example:

Be transitioning from living in an institution such as prison
Have care experience

Be experiencing mental ill health

Have, or be recovering from, drug or alcohol dependencies
Have a physical disability

Be neurodivergent

Be receiving welfare benefits

Have learning difficulties

Be living with, or escaping from, domestic abuse.

We understand that private landlords may not be aware or have a sound
understanding of many of these issues that tenants face, which can make it
difficult for a landlord to work successfully with a vulnerable tenant and therefore
increase the tenant'’s risk of homelessness. Therefore, it would be beneficial to
both landlords and tenants if landlords were legally required to complete
comprehensive training on how to work successfully with vulnerable tenants,
including how to signpost them to appropriate support services.

4House of Commons Work and Pensions Committee. (2020). Universal Credit: the wait for a first
Qayment.

Pack Page 55


https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/3069/documents/28787/default
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/3069/documents/28787/default

Crisis would advise that introduction of this requirement is accompanied with a
legal duty for PRS landlords to refer tenants to local authority housing support
teams if they believe that they are at risk of homelessness. To ensure that
landlords are supported in this, Crisis also believes that local authorities should be
legally required to support sustainment of tenancies as part of their wider
homelessness duties.

Barriers for people accessing the private rented sector

There are multiple barriers to accessing the private rented sector, particularly for
those on low incomes. Some groups also face barriers specific to a protected
characteristic or background.

The gap between LHA and rent costs
As explored above, the combination of rising rents and the freeze of LHA rates
means that people on low incomes cannot afford the majority of PRS tenancies.

Excessive landlord requirements
Landlords often ask potential tenants to supply:

excessive deposits/rent in advance
proof of income

guarantors

multiple references

credit checks

O O O O O

We also know that some landlords request insurance for rent arrears, voids and
damage from organisations supporting people on low incomes.

These requirements present significant barriers for low-income households and
many other groups of people at particular risk of homelessness, for example, care
leavers, prison leavers and those fleeing domestic abuse (who may have been
subjected to financial abuse). Crisis would welcome further consideration of how
such policies could be avoided or of how vulnerable groups could be supported
to overcome the barriers these requirements present.

History of arrears
Many landlords refuse to let properties to people with a history of arrears. These
arrears could relate to rent, council tax, or energy bills.

Shared accommodation rate
Single people under 35 are entitled to a lower rate of Housing Benefit which
makes affordability even more challenging.

Discrimination

Despite its illegality, we know that certain landlords continue to discriminate
against potential tenants based on their age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and
disability. Many landlords are reluctant to let to families with children and people
in receipt of benefits.

Pack Page 56



Right to refuse adaptations

PRS landlords have the right to refuse adaptations for disability, even if they are at
no cost to the landlord. This makes it more difficult for people with disabilities to
access and sustain tenancies.

Offending history

People who have a history of offending often struggle to access the PRS as many
landlords will not let to people with a criminal record. It is particularly difficult for
those who have committed arson in the past, as landlords state that their
insurance would be void if they let to a person with this on their record. This
means people leaving prison have extremely limited options when seeking a
home in which they can rehabilitate and reintegrate into society.

We would recommend that the Welsh Government considers how it can
encourage PRS landlords to work with prison leavers.

Anti-social behaviour

Landlords are often reluctant to let to people with history of anti-social behaviour
(ASB). It is important to note that ASB is often linked with mental ill health, and it
can intersect with neurodivergence and how people interpret other people’s
behaviour. It can also be linked with families living in overcrowded homes, or
people who are being victimised by a neighbour or someone else in their home.
Tenants who are experiencing domestic abuse are four times more likely than
other tenants to have ASB complaints made against them?®. This is often due to
the misidentification of domestic abuse as ASB.

Pets/companion animals

Landlords can be apprehensive about allowing pets in rented properties, and
tenancies that do allow for pet ownership often come with inflated costs for
deposits and damage protection. However, if managed correctly, allowing the
keeping of pets facilitates happy, healthy tenants. Companion animals play an
important role in improving their owners' physical and mental health and
wellbeing, helping to reduce loneliness. This can benefit landlords by helping to
maintain longer-term, successful letting arrangements.® For some people
experiencing homelessness, their pet has been a source of comfort and
companionship during a traumatic chapter in their lives. Leaving their pet behind
can therefore feel inconceivable — making no pet policies a considerable barrier.

Crisis would recommend that the Welsh Government bans blanket no-pet
clauses’ in PRS contracts. If a prospective tenant asks for a pet to be allowed as
part of their contract, a landlord must not unreasonably refuse the request.

Under 18s
There are many reasons that people under 18-years-old may need to live
independently of their parents or carers. Under land law, a minor cannot hold a

5 Jackson (2013), cited by Henderson, K. (2019) p.60. The role of housing in a coordinated
community response to domestic abuse, Durham theses, Durham University. Available from:
http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/13087/ and Safelives (2018), Safe at Home, Available from:
https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20at%20Home%20Report.pdf

6 RSPCA Cymru. Housing and animal ownership.

Pack Page 57



http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/13087/
https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20at%20Home%20Report.pdf
Housing%20|%20rspca.org.uk

legal’ interest in land and can only hold an ‘equitable’ interest. This creates
difficulties for young people under 18 in accessing tenancies.

How effectively the private sector is regulated

Crisis is concerned that the regulations relevant to the PRS are not being enforced
and that this is resulting in homelessness.

The Renting Homes Act sets out requirements for properties to be fit for
habitation’, but the reality is that local authorities do not have the resources to
enforce these requirements.

The number of inspections carried out by local authorities in Wales under the
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) has decreased significantly in
recent years. Whilst the low numbers of assessments between 2019-2021 can be
attributed to the Covid-19 pandemigc, it is clear that the trend is continuing
beyond the pandemic. In 2021-22, only 4,363 assessments were carried out
across Wales — this represents a 22% decrease of assessments carried out in 2018-
19 (the most recent data year unaffected by the pandemic) when the number of
assessments had already fallen by 10% in comparison to the year before that.”

A further cause for concern is illegal eviction. Shelter Cymru report that cases of
illegal evictions are rising in Wales, and a recent court case revealed that Cardiff
Council has not investigated a single illegal eviction for at least ten years.®

We also worry about the fact that the onus is on tenants to enforce regulation
through the Residential Property Tribunal. Tenants may be deterred from
reporting issues for fear of losing their home or due to a lack of understanding of
their rights and/or the bureaucracy of the tribunal.

The availability of data in the private rented sector and how it can be
improved

Analysis by Crisis and Zoopla®, and the Bevan Foundation'® shows that limitations
in rent officers’ datasets is leading to unreliable estimates of the real cost of
renting.

As there is currently no legal requirement for private residential landlords to
disclose to Rent Officers how much rent they charge, the UK Government is
making decisions about Local Housing Allowance levels without comprehensive
or up-to-date information, with no assessment of the risk to people facing
homelessness.

LHA rates are based on ‘actual rents’, rather than ‘advertised rents’. However,
collecting a snapshot of actual rents might fail to capture the rate at which
average rents for new tenancies are rising, as existing tenants may be paying less

7 Welsh Government. (2023). Housing hazards and licences: April 2021 — March 2022.

8 Wilks, R. (2023). Cardiff Council's Systemic Failure to Investigate Illegal Eviction Exposed.

% Crisis and Zoopla. (2022). Falling short: Housing benefit and the rising cost of renting in England.
10 The Bevan Foundation. (2021). Wales' housing crisis: the role of LHA.

Pack Page 58

7


Housing%20hazards%20and%20licences:%20April%202021%20to%20March%202022%20|%20GOV.WALES
https://www.voice.wales/cardiff-councils-systemic-failure-to-investigate-illegal-evictions-exposed/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/248340/zoopla_briefingv8-1.pdf
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Wales-housing-crisis-Bevan-Foundation-Report.pdf

rent than prospective new tenants. On the other side of the coin, advertised rents
only include new tenancies and will not always reflect the actual rent level
agreed, particularly in high demand areas where there is an increasing trend for
tenants to bid over listed rents.

In order to solve this issue, annual rent reporting through Rent Smart Wales
should be a legal requirement for landlords. This should include the rent paid by
each tenant, and confirmation of whether any is paid through Local Housing
Allowance. This annual data reporting would not be burdensome but would
immediately provide a comprehensive and up-to-date evidence base. This would
help the DWP and HM Treasury to accurately assess Local Housing Allowance
shortfalls and improve the value for money on investment by ensuring that
spending is efficiently targeted. It would also improve the accuracy of inflationary
measures themselves, contributing to the work of the Office for National
Statistics.

Conclusion

The private rented sector is a key part of the housing landscape in Wales and has
clear potential to help with the unmet housing needs of the people of Wales.
However, at present, many people are struggling to access a privately rented
home, which is consequentially contributing to the housing crisis and rising
homelessness rates. In order to maximise the potential of the PRS, it is important
that the Welsh Government, Rent Smart Wales, private landlords, local authorities
and support providers all work together towards implementing the many
solutions highlighted in this evidence and beyond.

Thank you for reading this response. For more information, please email Jasmine Harris, Senior
Policy and Public Affairs Officer jasmine.harris@crisis.org.uk

Pack Page 59


mailto:jasmine.harris@crisis.org.uk

Appendix

Photos of a PRS property in Swansea, costing £450 per month per room.

Pack Page 60



10

Pack Page 61



11

Pack Page 62



Papur 6 / Paper 6

Senedd Housing and Local Government Committee inquiry
into the Private Rented Sector

The Bevan Foundation is Wales’ most influential think-tank. We create insights, ideas and impact
that help to end poverty and inequality. We are grateful for the opportunity to submit written
evidence to the Housing and Local Government Committee’s inquiry into the private rental sector.
Our response addresses each of the terms of reference set out in the consultation document in turn
and is based on our extensive work on the challenges faced by low-income renters in Wales.

The Bevan Foundation’s recent work on the Local Housing Allowance has raised significant concerns
about the availability of good quality, affordable housing in Wales.

The Local Housing Allowance (LHA) is the mechanism used to calculate the amount of Housing
Benefit or housing element of Universal Credit that someone renting in the private rental sector is
entitled to claim. The LHA is designed to allow a tenant to rent a property in the cheapest 30th
percentile of properties available within a market area, adjusted for household composition. Our
most recent research has demonstrated that this is far from the case.

Between 3" February and 17" February, we collected data on the 2,638 properties advertised for let
in Wales. Of these only 32 (1.2 per cent) were advertised at rents that were at or below LHA rates.!
Of the 22 local authorities in Wales only 6 have any properties available at or below LHA rates,
Cardiff, Ceredigion, Conwy, Gwynedd, Powys and Rhondda Cynon Taf. In two of the six local
authorities, (Ceredigion and Conwy) there was only a single property available at LHA rates.?

The inadequacies of the LHA system have a significant effect on low-income renters. These effects
are predominantly manifested in one of three ways.

Some tenants move into properties where there is a gap between the support they receive through
the social security system, and their rent. According to the Department for Work and Pension’s own
data, in September 2022, 70 per cent of private rental sector tenants that were on Universal Credit
and who received support towards their housing costs in Wales did not have their rent covered in
full.® This has a significant impact on tenants’ financial resilience, putting them at greater risk of
falling into rent arrears or going without essentials such as food or heating.

Other tenants are pushed into poor quality accommodation. During our work on the LHA, we heard
from one local authority officer that described the private rental housing that was available at LHA
rates in their area as the “toilet end of the market”.? This does not only have a direct impact on
tenant’s health and quality of life, but it can also have an impact on their financial position. Poorly

1 Bevan Foundation, Wales’ Housing Crisis: Local Housing Allowance and the private rental market in Wales,
Winter 2023 (March 2023) available at - www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/housing-winter-2023/

2 ibid

3 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation

4 Bevan Foundation, Wales’ Housing Crisis: making the LHA work for Wales (March 2022) available at -
www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/wales-housing-crisis-making-the-lha-work-for-wales/

Pack Page 63


http://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/housing-winter-2023/
http://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/wales-housing-crisis-making-the-lha-work-for-wales/

insulated homes, for example, are more expensive to heat, placing extra pressure on the finances of
low-income renters.

Some tenants are pushed into accessing support through the homelessness system. The number of
people living in temporary accommodation in Wales has risen by a quarter over the past twelve
months, with 9,601 individuals living in temporary accommodation as of 28" February 2023.° The
gap that has opened between LHA and rents has likely contributed to this increase in two ways. First,
the lack of affordable private rental sector accommaodation is likely to have contributed to the
increase in the number of people seeking support through the homelessness system. At the same
time, the very factors that are making it difficult for renters to find affordable accommodation in the
private rental sector are also making it increasingly difficult for local authority housing and
homelessness teams to find appropriate move on accommodation, leading to more pressure being
placed on temporary accommodation.

Over the summer of 2022 the Bevan Foundation held two joint events with the National Residential
Landlords Association (NRLA) to better understand why there are not more properties available to
rent at LHA rates in Wales.® The primary reason given by landlords as to why they did not choose to
let out their property at LHA rates was that the gap that has developed between LHA and market
rents is now so significant that there was little incentive for them to do so.” This combined with a
concern that they did not have the appropriate skills to support tenants who may have additional
needs meant that many landlords reported that they would prefer to let properties to people who
were not in receipt of benefits.?

A secondary theme that emerged through our work over the summer of 2022 is that the rise of the
holiday let industry is providing an attractive alternative income source for some landlords. Research
undertaken by the Bevan Foundation found that in every local authority bar one, a property owner
could make more in ten weeks by letting out their property on Airbnb than by letting out their
property at LHA rates for an entire year.® Whilst there may be some higher costs associated with the
holiday let industry, lower regulatory standards, and potentially lucrative returns mean that in many
parts of Wales, the holiday industry is likely to be an attractive alternative for landlords, potentially
reducing the availability of rental stock.

The Bevan Foundation has not undertaken recent work exploring the challenges faced by landlords
more broadly. We are aware that there is significant discussion about landlords leaving the sector in
Wales, however, there is limited data that allows us to objectively analyse whether the private rental
sector itself is getting smaller. For example, whilst individual landlords may be selling their
properties, these could be being bought by other landlords, meaning that the sector overall is not
reducing in size. In fact, in the medium term, the data suggests that the private rental sector in Wales
is growing. There were 44,000 more people living in the private rental sector in Wales at the time of

5 Welsh Government, Homelessness accommodation provision and rough sleeping: February 2023 (April 2023)
available at - https://www.gov.wales/homelessness-accommodation-provision-and-rough-sleeping-february-
2023

6 Bevan Foundation, A call for action: joint pledges from Bevan Foundation and NRLA to support low income
tenants (August 2022) available at - https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/nrla_bevan joint asks/

7 ibid

8 ibid

% Bevan Foundation, Holiday lets and the private rental sector (September 2022) available at -
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/holiday-lets-and-the-prs/

Pack Page 64


https://www.gov.wales/homelessness-accommodation-provision-and-rough-sleeping-february-2023
https://www.gov.wales/homelessness-accommodation-provision-and-rough-sleeping-february-2023
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/nrla_bevan_joint_asks/
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/holiday-lets-and-the-prs/

the 2021 census as compared to the 2011 census. It is possible that this growth has gone into reverse
in the following two years, but we think there is a need for caution when exploring recent concerns
about the sector becoming smaller in the absence of robust data.

The Bevan Foundation has not undertaken extensive work exploring opportunities for social and
private landlord partnership working. We are aware however, of some examples of such partnership
working in action. For instance, the Welsh Government’s Leasing Scheme is at its core an example of
partnership working, with some local authorities working in partnership with social landlords to
manage tenancies under the Scheme. Throughout our work on LHA, however, we have heard that
the significant gap that has developed between LHA and rents undermines the attractiveness of such
schemes to landlords, with landlords being better off financially if they let out a property at market
rate, even if it sits empty for a month than if they rented their property to at LHA rates through the
Leasing Scheme. 1°

Whilst we are sure that there are areas where there is space for greater partnership working
between social and private landlords, we believe that it imperative that these are developed in a way
that is sustainable in the long term, and that doesn’t limit the ability of the Welsh Government to
construct the additional social housing that is needed.

Affordability is the primary barrier preventing low-income households from accessing the private
rental sector, but during our work on LHA we did identify several further barriers. Many properties
that are advertised for rent on the formal rental market require tenants to satisfy certain criteria
before they are permitted to lease a property. Many of these additional requirements can prove
difficult for low-income tenants to satisfy, such as:

e Deposits equivalent to more than one month’s rent.
e Arequirement to provide a guarantor.

e Credit checks.

e  Minimum income checks.

e ‘Professional Only’ requirements.

Of the 32 properties found advertised for rent at or below the LHA rate by the Bevan Foundation in
February 2023, 23 had one or more of these requirements that could prove difficult for low-income
tenants to satisfy.!! This means that there were only nine properties (0.34 per cent) advertised on
the formal rental market in Wales that were fully covered by LHA rates and had no additional
requirements that would be difficult for a low-income tenant to satisfy.'> These properties were
available in just three local authorities, with seven being available in Cardiff, one in Ceredigion and
one in Rhondda Cynon Taf.13

10 Bevan Foundation n(4)
11 Bevan Foundation n(1)
2 ibid
3 ibid

Pack Page 65



The enactment of recent legislation by the Senedd (such as the Renting Homes (Wales) Act) 2016 has
undoubtedly improved the regulatory standards for the private rented sector. Whilst there may be
areas where there is a case to increase regulation further (e.g. in relation to costs) the Foundation’s
recent work has unearthed some concerns with regards to the way that existing regulation is being
enforced.

We have identified some areas where landlords may be ignoring existing regulations or have found
loopholes so that they can avoid their spirit. For instance, we found examples of landlord explicitly
stating that they would not rent their property to people in receipt of social security benefits, despite
the ban on doing so0.'* We also found examples of tenants being required to pay large up-front fees
before they could rent a property despite restrictions on letting agency fees.'® There is therefore a
clear need to both increase regulatory enforcement action and to review existing regulations to close
possible loopholes.

A further limitation of the way that the sector is currently regulated is that there is a heavy
dependence on tenants to both be aware of their rights and to take action against their landlord (e.g.
report them to their local authority) in order for regulatory standards to be enforced. Throughout
our work we have heard numerous concerns that private rental sector tenants are not empowered,
both in terms of knowing their legal rights nor in feeling confident enough to take action against their
landlord for fear of eviction.® There is a need for the Welsh Government to take action to both
increase tenants’ understanding of their rights and to increase the support that is available to take
action against their landlord, if required.

There is a need for significant improvement on the data that is held in Wales on the private rental
sector.

One of the key findings of the Bevan Foundation’s work on LHA has been that there are significant
limitations to the data used to calculate how LHA rates are set.'” LHA rates are set based on data
gathered by the Welsh Government’s rent officers. There is currently no obligation on landlords to
share how much they charge for rent meaning that data gathered by rent officers may not provide a
true overview of local rental markets. This does not only have possible implications as to how the
LHA is set in Wales,® but may also undermine broader policy discussions about the private rental
sector. Placing a requirement on landlords to share how much they charge for rent with the Welsh
Government or Rent Smart Wales, for example, could address this data weakness.

A second weakness with the current system is that despite the creation of Rent Smart Wales, there
are still limitations as to our understanding of how many landlords operate in Wales and how this
may or may not be changing over time. Despite all landlords in Wales being required to register with
Rent Smart Wales there is no publicly available data that allows us to explore recent trends within
the sector, for example whether it is indeed the case that landlords are leaving the sector in Wales.

14 Bevan Foundation n(4)
5 ibid
16 ibid
7 ibid
8 ibid

Pack Page 66



Improving the way that this data is held and published would provide a further opportunity to better
understand the private rental sector in Wales.

A further issue with the data that is gathered with regards to the rental sector in Wales concerns
Broad Rental Market Areas (BRMAs). Rents vary considerably across Wales, so to reflect this,
different LHA rates are set for areas with broadly similar market conditions, called BRMAs. Wales has
23 BRMAs, which are drawn up by the Department of Work and Pensions. The Bevan Foundation’s
work on LHA has raised concerns about whether some BRMAs are truly representative.’® We believe
that the Welsh Government and Welsh local authorities should use existing mechanisms to ask the
UK Government to review Welsh BRMAs, to ensure that they better reflect Welsh communities.

Y ibid

Pack Page 67



Papur 7

Paper 7

Agenda ltem 4

1.0

1.1

1.2

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Local Government and Housing Committee

Inquiry into the private rented sector
Response from the National Residential Landlords Association

About the NRLA

The National Residential Landlords Association (NRLA) is the leading voice in England and
Wales for private sector residential landlords. It has over 100,000 members, making it by far
the largest organisation in the sector. The membership owns and manages around 10% of
private rented housing in England and Wales, equating to half a million properties.

The NRLA provides training and support for landlords to ensure they fully understand their
responsibilities and are equipped to provide good quality housing for their tenants. It also
campaigns for policies that seek to improve the sector for the benefit of tenants and
responsible landlords.

Executive summary

Like other areas of the UK, Wales is facing a shortage of private rented housing. Tenant
demand remains strong and continues to outstrip supply. This is placing an upwards
pressure on rents out of tenancy, although rental growth remains below inflation.

To address this issue more landlords need to be brought into the market while current
landlords should be encouraged to stay rather than leaving the market or moving to short-
term and holiday lets. This can be achieved by addressing landlords’ key concerns, such as
uncertainty around future energy efficiency requirements, current regulations in Wales, and
the prospect of rent controls being introduced by the Welsh Government.

The introduction of rent controls, so soon after the introduction of the Renting Homes
(Wales) Act, risks pushing landlords out of the market. The introduction of such a substantial
change to how the private rented sector works in Wales is alarming given the lack of data on
the make-up of the PRS and the possible unintended consequences such a move could have.

The NRLA is calling for a number of measures to alleviate the pressure on the PRS and ensure
that supply in the sector grows, helping to meet demand and improving the affordability of
the sector. These include:

e A comprehensive strategy to support landlords in retrofitting the remaining fifth of PRS
properties with a low EPC rating, particularly those that pose significant challenges and
high costs for retrofitting.

e The Development Bank of Wales should offer additional funding, in the form of low-
interest loans, to landlords who are facing prohibitive costs when making energy
efficiency improvements to their properties.

o Any further incentives, such as a higher guaranteed level of rent or property upgrade
grants, to ensure that the Leasing Scheme Wales is more successful and works for
responsible landlords.

Pack Page 68



3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

e Anincreased rate of Local Housing Allowance that realistically reflects rentsin each area,
and for access to the full rate of LHA to be extended to those under the age of 35.

e The purchase of additional homes for long-term rent should be exempt from the higher
rate of Land Transaction Tax (LTT), thereby encouraging landlords to bring properties
into the sector, adding much-needed supply. In addition, Welsh Government should
urge the UK Government to undertake a full review of taxes affecting the sector to
mitigate the detrimental consequences of a loss of investment on current and future
tenants, tax revenue and expenditure on homelessness prevention.

e Boththe Welsh and UK Governments should allow for more flexible deposit amounts for
tenants with pets. Additionally, tenants should also be required to have petinsurance or
pay the landlord for it, and this should be allowed as a requirement for a tenancy where
relevant.

e An assessment of Rent Smart Wales should be conducted by Audit Wales to establish if
it is meeting its objectives and advise on what improvements could be made to ensure
it is effectively regulating the sector with the tools it already has.

e Rent Smart Wales should be required to publish annual performance statistics that
include property conditions, energy efficiency data, the number of landlords in Wales,
and other key tenure data to provide a more comprehensive picture of its performance.

e A Scrutiny Board should be established to provide oversight of Rent Smart Wales, and
include representatives from across the sector, including tenant and landlord
representative bodies.

e An annual Welsh Housing Survey should be developed to provide a comprehensive
picture of the housing sector in Wales.

The supply, quality, and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector

The demand for private rented properties in Wales is outstripping supply. By the simple laws
of supply and demand, this is placing upwards pressure on rents.

In November 2022, Savills noted in its Welsh Housing Market update: “Surveyors have
consistently reported a significant excess of demand over supply in the last year, suggesting
strong rental growth is likely to continue.”* Separately, the Bank of England reported in
February that: “Demand for rental properties continued to outstrip supply as the number of
landlords choosing to exit the market increased. Contacts attributed this to a combination of
factors including tax and regulation, higher maintenance and borrowing costs, and an
inability to recoup increased costs in rents.”?

According to a recent survey conducted by the research consultancy BVA-BDRC, 73% of
NRLA members in Wales reported an increase in tenant demand in the final quarter of 2022.
Despite such strong demand, four in ten landlords stated that they plan to reduce the

! Savills. Welsh Housing Market and Supply Update. Available at: https://www.savills.co.uk/research articles/229130/335606-
0#:~:text=Rents%20increased%2011.9%25%20in%20Wales,growth%20is%20likely%20to%20continue.

? Bank of England. Monetary Policy Committee Report, February 2023. Available at: https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/monetary-policy-
report/2023/february/monetary-policy-report-february-2023.pdf.

Pack Page 69


https://www.savills.co.uk/research_articles/229130/335606-0#:%7E:text=Rents%20increased%2011.9%25%20in%20Wales,growth%20is%20likely%20to%20continue
https://www.savills.co.uk/research_articles/229130/335606-0#:%7E:text=Rents%20increased%2011.9%25%20in%20Wales,growth%20is%20likely%20to%20continue
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/monetary-policy-report/2023/february/monetary-policy-report-february-2023.pdf
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/monetary-policy-report/2023/february/monetary-policy-report-february-2023.pdf

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

4.0

4.1

4.2

number of properties they let, compared to almost one in ten (9%) who said they would
increase the number of properties they rented out.?

The PRS in Wales has become more popular than ever before, with the 2021 census data
revealing that it now provides homes for 16.6% of all households in Wales, an increase from
14.1%in 2011 and just 7.4% in 2001. *> ¢

Contrary to the popular belief that landlords raise rents solely to maximise their profits, the
main reason for increasing rents is to reflect market conditions when there is a change in
tenancy. Typically, landlords will not raise rents when renewing a contract with an existing
tenant who wishes to remain in the property.

Whilst not Wales-specific, the latest English Private Landlord Survey shows that 68% of
landlords kept rents the same or reduced them instead of increasing them when extending
or renewing a tenancy. The Office for National Statistics, which tracks changes in all rents,
including in tenancy changes, reported that rents are increasing well below inflation in
Wales. The average level of private rents in Wales increased by 4.4% in the 12 months leading
up to March 2023, compared to inflation of 10.1% (by CPI) over the same period.

As of December 2021, the average rent in Wales is £550 per month, representing 23% of an
average person’s income. This makes them more affordable than those in England where an
average rent is £730 a month, which is more than a quarter of an average person’s income.’
Over the medium-term, rents in Wales increased by 15.6% between 2010 and 2023, while
median weekly pay increased by 33% during the same period.?°

Increasing the supply of homes in the areas where people want to live is key to improving
access to the sector. As well as undertaking a review of all taxes affecting the PRS to mitigate
the detrimental consequences of a loss of investment on current and future tenants, tax
revenue and expenditure on homelessness prevention, the UK Government must be urged
to adopt pro-growth measures to sustain the sector. Additional support must also be
provided to better support those on the lowest incomes to access private rented housing.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords

Landlords in Wales currently face four significant challenges. Renting Homes (Wales), the
spectre of rent controls, rising costs, and a lack of clarity around energy efficiency
improvements.

Compliance with the recently introduced Renting Homes (Wales) Act is proving to be
challenging, particularly for landlords with sitting tenants in place. The Act made sweeping
changes to the way that tenancies operate in Wales, and many are still getting to grips with
these changes. There are also a number of outstanding issues yet to be resolved.

3 BVA BDRC Survey: Q4 2022. Not yet publicly available.
* Office for National Statistics. Census 2021: Housing in England and Wales. Available at:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingenglandandwales/census2021.

® Nomis. Census 2011: Tenure. Available at: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/ks402ew.

®Nomis. Census 2001: Tenure. Available at: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2001/ks018.

" Office for National Statistics. Private rental affordability: 2021. Available at:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/privaterentalaffordabilityengland/2021#:~:text=Wales%20%2D%20%C2%A3

550%20monthly%20rent,household%20income%200f%20%C2%A32%2C350.

8 House of Commons Library. Average earnings by age and region. Available at: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8456/.
° Office for National Statistics. Index of Private Rental Prices: January 2023. Available at:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/january2023.

Pack Page 70


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingenglandandwales/census2021
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/ks402ew
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2001/ks018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/privaterentalaffordabilityengland/2021#:%7E:text=Wales%20%2D%20%C2%A3550%20monthly%20rent,household%20income%20of%20%C2%A32%2C350
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/privaterentalaffordabilityengland/2021#:%7E:text=Wales%20%2D%20%C2%A3550%20monthly%20rent,household%20income%20of%20%C2%A32%2C350
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8456/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/january2023

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Converted contracts in particular are a source of great concern for landlords as Schedule 12
(and by extension the required converted contract terms) have been repeatedly changed in
the run-up to, and even after, the introduction of the act. These changes are a reflection of
the lack of clarity for pre-existing tenancies, but also makes it very difficult to access clear
guidance on how to comply. This in turn increases the likelihood of providing an incomplete
or incorrect written statement and the likelihood a landlord will be penalised.

The NRLA has been informed by a number of landlords that the conversion process has
increased the likelihood they will exit the private rented sector once their current contracts
end rather than continuing to rent. Rising possession claims in Wales prior to December 1*
suggests that many landlords had already started exiting rather than engaging with the
conversion process. In the last quarter of 2022, accelerated possession claims in Wales
increased by 354% compared to 69% in England.* In the first quarter of 2023, accelerated
possession claims rose by 236% compared to the same quarter in 2022. Over the same
period, claims in England rose by just 16%."*

Similarly, the NRLA’s latest Landlord Confidence Index, compiled by the research
consultancy BVA-BDRC shows that a quarter of Welsh landlords have reduced the number
of properties they rent out over the last 12 months, and almost half (47%) intend to reduce
the number of properties they let over the next year. This contrasts to the same quarter in
2022, where 15% said they had reduced the size of their portfolio and 31% said they were
planning to sell or reduce their portfolios.'? ** Furthermore, the new legislation may impact
the courts, as there is a plethora of new legislation to interpret, leading to increased waiting
times and workload.

While pre-existing ‘converted’ contracts are the main source of concern at the moment, the
courts will also have to rule on a number of grey areas over the next year for new contracts
too. For example, it is not clear whether the requirement to provide a written statement can
be met before occupation. Many landlords may, as a result, find themselves open to
penalties because they gave their contract-holders a statement promptly. There are similar
issues around the applicability of previous contracts and the exact terms of renewals which
the courts will have to rule on.

All of which means that landlords face significant challenges in understanding and
complying with the current regulations in Wales. There is a very significant risk that the Act
will lead to a reduction in the size of the PRS, particularly if it is followed by further regulation
such as rent controls. Landlords and the legislation itself, would likely to benefit from a
period of calm where the impact can be fully assessed before pressing on with further
regulatory change.

The Co-operation Agreement signed by the Welsh Government and Plaid Cymru included a
commitment to publish a White Paper to explore how “fair rents” could make the private

1 Ministry of Justice. Mortgage and landlord possession statistics: October to December 2022. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-october-to-december-2022/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-

statistics-october-to-december-2022.

11 Ministry of Justice. Mortgage and landlord possession statistics: January to March 2023. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-
and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023.

2 NRLA Landlord Confidence Index. Q1 2023. (data available upon request).
3 NRLA Landlord Confidence Index. Q1 2022 (data available upon request).

Pack Page 71


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-october-to-december-2022/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-october-to-december-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-october-to-december-2022/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-october-to-december-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023/mortgage-and-landlord-possession-statistics-january-to-march-2023

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

rented sector affordable for local people on local incomes.'* This commitment indicated
that that some form of rent control might be considered in Wales.

Rent controls, regardless of their intent, have proven to be ineffective in addressing
affordability in the private rented sector. Implementing a system of “fair rents” is likely to
result in unintended consequences that might harm tenants and shrink the rented housing
supply in Wales. This will make it even more challenging to access housing, rather than
increasing choice and affordability for lower income tenants.

Our research shows that implementing rent control measures would exacerbate the supply
problems tenants are facing, ultimately causing a sizeable proportion of landlords to either
decrease the number of properties they offer for long-term let or leaving the market
altogether.

According to a survey by the NRLA of 1,013 landlords in England and Wales, the proportions
that would either a) transfer some of their properties to the short-term/holiday-lets market;
b) sell some of their properties in an area affected by rent controls; or c) sell all their
properties in an affected area were:*

Type of rent control Proportion of
landlords who would
leave the long-term
let market, or reduce
their portfolio

Rents are fixed by an external authority both 38%
between and during tenancies.

Rent increases are linked to inflation between 23%
and during tenancies.

Rents for new tenancies could be set by 22%

landlords with subsequent rent increases
limited to inflation or set by an external
authority

The recent rent controlsimposed in Scotland have disrupted the supply of new rental homes
atatime when homes for private rent are in short supply. The Scottish Property Federation’s
assessment of the rent freeze in Scotland found that: “The emergency legislation is intended
as a short-term measure to help to solve an immediate cost-of-living crisis but, by acting
against new supply, risks worsening affordability and availability problems in the PRS over
the longer term, as well as negatively impacting on other Scottish Government objectives
around net zero and energy efficiency.”*® The rent freeze/cap policy was not only opposed
by landlords, but also by the Chartered Institute of Housing, who said that they were
“concerned that the continuation of the rent cap in the PRS will have significant unintended
consequences which will undermine tenants’ housing outcomes.”*” Unintended

* Welsh Government, Co-operation Agreement, November 2021, available at: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-
agreement-2021.pdf.

> YouGov survey, December 2021: https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/deep-insight/YouGov-Winter21.

16 Scottish Property Federation. Assessment of Scotland’s Rent Freeze and Impacts. Available at: https://scottishpropertyfederation.org.uk/our-
work/research-and-briefings/assessment-of-scotlands-rent-freeze-and-impacts/.

T Chartered Institute of Housing. CIH Scotland responds to statement on rent setting for private landlords and eviction protections across the rented
sector. Available at: https://www.cih.org/news/cih-scotland-responds-to-statement-on-rent-setting-for-private-landlords-and-eviction-protections-
across-the-rented-sector.

Pack Page 72


https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-agreement-2021.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-agreement-2021.pdf
https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/deep-insight/YouGov-Winter21
https://scottishpropertyfederation.org.uk/our-work/research-and-briefings/assessment-of-scotlands-rent-freeze-and-impacts/
https://scottishpropertyfederation.org.uk/our-work/research-and-briefings/assessment-of-scotlands-rent-freeze-and-impacts/
https://www.cih.org/news/cih-scotland-responds-to-statement-on-rent-setting-for-private-landlords-and-eviction-protections-across-the-rented-sector
https://www.cih.org/news/cih-scotland-responds-to-statement-on-rent-setting-for-private-landlords-and-eviction-protections-across-the-rented-sector

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

consequences of rent controls are indeed something that the Welsh Government has
expressed concern about in the past.*®

We believe that the private rented sector should be accessible and affordable for everyone.
However, this can only be achieved by ensuring there is sufficient supply of rental housing
to meet the demand. Rent controls would not address this issue.

Another key challenge landlords face is meeting the energy efficiency requirements that the
UK and Welsh Governments might set as part of their push towards achieving net zero
carbon emissions.

In Wales, this challenge is particularly acute due to the old age of the housing stock.
Retrofitting and upgrading the energy efficiency of these properties is a costly and complex
process, especially when compared to the value of homes in Wales relative to the rest of the
UK.* As of February 2023, the average property price in Wales was £215,343 compared to
£308,365 in England.?

32% of Welsh homes were built before 1919, whilst just 6% have been built since 1987. In
England, 20% of homes were built before 1919, and 24% of English housing was built after
1987.22 Homes built before 1919 present particular challenges for energy efficiency
improvements as they are less likely to have cavity walls, and the Welsh PRS has a higher
proportion of such homes than any other tenure, with 43% of homes in the Welsh PRS built
before 1919.%

That said, the PRS is becoming more energy efficient. Despite the challenging requirements
to retrofit older properties, landlords have made continuous progress in improving the
energy efficiency of the private rented sector. With limited support, they have successfully
reduced the proportion of PRS homes with an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating
of D or lower from almost two-thirds in 2008 to 21% in 2018, representing the largest
reduction of any tenure. Moreover, there are now more homes in the PRS with an EPC rating
of C or above (25%) than those with an E rating or below.**

A comprehensive strategy is needed to support landlords in retrofitting the remaining fifth
of PRS properties with a low EPC rating, particularly those that pose significant challenges
and high costs for retrofitting. This approach would not only help mitigate a loss of
investment from the sector, ensuring the homes are kept in the PRS, but could also reduce
energy costs for tenants. We agree with the assessment of the Welsh Government, which
stated in its response to the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee’s
report into decarbonising the private housing sector that: “If UK Government introduces a

1TV News. Labour shuns Plaid Cymru bid for rent freeze amid rising costs. Available at: https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2022-10-13/freezing-rent-would-
have-unintentional-consequences-for-landlords-labour-says

¥ The Health Foundation. Proportion of properties built before 1919 by local authority. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-
hub/housing/housing-quality/properties-built-before-1919.

» The Land Registry. UK House Price Index: March 2023. Available at: https://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ukhpi/browse?from=2022-03-
01&location=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.data.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fengland&to=2023-03-01&lang=en.

! Chartered Institute of Housing Cymru. Decarbonising Wales’ Private Rented Sector. Available at: https://cih.org/media/zbccclbu/0510-ttc-decarbonising-
wales-private-rented-sector-v5.pdf.

2 English Housing Survey. 2014-15: Housing stock report. Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/539600/Housing_Stock report.pdf.

% Welsh Housing Conditions Survey 2017-18. Available at: https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-02/welsh-housing-
conditions-survey-headline-results-april-2017-march-2018-update-570.pdf.

*Ibid

Pack Page 73


https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2022-10-13/freezing-rent-would-have-unintentional-consequences-for-landlords-labour-says
https://www.itv.com/news/wales/2022-10-13/freezing-rent-would-have-unintentional-consequences-for-landlords-labour-says
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/housing/housing-quality/properties-built-before-1919
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/housing/housing-quality/properties-built-before-1919
https://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ukhpi/browse?from=2022-03-01&location=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.data.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fengland&to=2023-03-01&lang=en
https://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ukhpi/browse?from=2022-03-01&location=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.data.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fengland&to=2023-03-01&lang=en
https://cih.org/media/zbccclbu/0510-ttc-decarbonising-wales-private-rented-sector-v5.pdf
https://cih.org/media/zbccclbu/0510-ttc-decarbonising-wales-private-rented-sector-v5.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/539600/Housing_Stock_report.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-02/welsh-housing-conditions-survey-headline-results-april-2017-march-2018-update-570.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-02/welsh-housing-conditions-survey-headline-results-april-2017-march-2018-update-570.pdf

4.19

4.20

4.21

5.0

5.1

requirement to meet EPC C and does not provide financial support there could be a need to
look at funding grants and/or loans to support improvements.”?

The NRLA is calling for the Development Bank of Wales to offer additional funding, in the
form of low-interest loans, to landlords who are facing prohibitive costs when making
energy efficiency improvements to their properties. This would encourage investment in
energy efficiency measures for the PRS, rather than pushing landlords to sell their properties
as the burden of minimum standards without support could do. As with other businesses,
private landlords face rising costs, including mortgage costs and the cost of maintaining
properties. According to the Q4 2022 BVA-BDRC survey, 72% of landlords in England and
Wales who planned to raise rents cited the increasing costs of running properties as the main
reason for doing so. It is essential to provide support to landlords to ensure that they can
continue to provide safe and affordable housing while meeting the government's energy
efficiency requirements.

One of the key expenses landlords have to grapple with is the growing cost of mortgages.
According to the Bank of England’s Financial Stability Report published in December?:

e There are around 2 million outstanding buy-to-let mortgages, representing 8% of the
house stock.

o 85% of buy-to-let mortgages are interest only, making them “particularly vulnerable to
interest rate rises.”

e Bytheend of 2023, monthly repayments for buy-to-let mortgages are forecast to rise on
average by around £175, and around 20% of buy-to-let mortgages will have increases of

over £300.

e Landlords would need to increase rental incomes by around 20% to offset the projected
rise in buy-to-let mortgage costs.

In addition, in the 12 months leading up to March this year, the Office for National Statistics
has shown a notable increase in costs linked to the maintenance and upkeep of dwellings.?'.
For example:

e Materials for the maintenance and repair of dwellings increased by an average of 10.2%.

e The costs of furniture, furnishings and carpets increased by an average of 9.4%.

The opportunities for greater partnership working between social and private
landlords

The NRLA is committed to collaborating closely with the social rented sector in Wales in
order to meet the demand for housing.

» Welsh Government. Response to Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure

Committee’s report on Decarbonising the private housing sector. Available at: https://senedd.wales/media/az1fnguy/gen-ld15794-e.pdf.

* Bank of England, Financial Stability Report, December 2022, available at: https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/financial-stability-
report/2022/financial-stability-report-december-2022.pdf.

7 Office for National Statistics, Consumer price inflation tables, April 2023, table 3, available at:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/economy/inflationandpriceindices/datasets/consumerpriceinflation/current/consumerpriceinflationdetailedreferenceta

bles2.xlsx.

Pack Page 74


https://senedd.wales/media/az1fnguy/gen-ld15794-e.pdf
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/financial-stability-report/2022/financial-stability-report-december-2022.pdf
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/financial-stability-report/2022/financial-stability-report-december-2022.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/economy/inflationandpriceindices/datasets/consumerpriceinflation/current/consumerpriceinflationdetailedreferencetables2.xlsx
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/economy/inflationandpriceindices/datasets/consumerpriceinflation/current/consumerpriceinflationdetailedreferencetables2.xlsx

5.2

5.3

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

7.0

7.1

We fully support the Government’s Leasing Scheme Wales, which enables landlords in 15
local authority areas to lease their property to the local authority on a long-term basis and
receive a guaranteed rental income in return. We agree that the scheme enhances access to
homes in the PRS, offers tenants longer term security, and can help reduce homelessness.
Incentives provided through the scheme, including grants for improving the energy
efficiency of a property, are also welcome.

However, considering that the demand for private rented homes outstrips supply, many
landlords may find it easier than before to attract tenants on the open market. As such, we
would welcome engagement with the Welsh Government on whether any further incentives,
such as a higher guaranteed level of rent or property upgrade grants, might be possible to
ensure that the scheme is more successful and works for more responsible landlords.

Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young
people and people with pets

Increasing the supply of homes in the areas where people want to live is the key to improving
access to the sector.

For young people, this means ensuring properties are available close to colleges or
universities, or in cities. While properties to rent can be found in every Welsh city, we
continue to urge the UK Government to provide more support to those on the lowest
incomes to access private rented housing. Specifically, we call for an increased rate of Local
Housing Allowance that realistically reflects rents in each area, and for access to the full rate
of LHA to be extended to those under the age of 35.

We also recognise the importance of pets as companions for tenants and encourage our
members to be flexible when considering requests to allow pets in their properties. By being
open to such requests, we can help ensure that responsible pet owners are not unfairly
excluded from accessing suitable accommodation in the private rented sector.

However, it's important to note that pets may not be suitable for every property, and that
there is often a higher level of risk of property damage where there is a pet present. If
allowing pets becomes mandatory, landlords need to have confidence that they will not be
forced to pay for any damage caused by pets at the end of a tenancy. We, therefore, call on
both the Welsh and UK Governments to allow for more flexible deposit amounts to reflect
this greater risk. Additionally, we call for tenants to either have pet insurance or to pay the
landlord for it, to be allowed as a requirement for a tenancy where relevant.

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated

The NRLA believes that effective regulation can improve the private rented sector for both
tenants and responsible landlords. We continue to want to work collaboratively with the
Welsh Government and Rent Smart Wales, established as a national licensing scheme for
private landlords to ensure compliance with legislation affecting the sector, to support
regulations that roots out the small number of criminal and rogue landlords who bring the
sector into disrepute, whilst supporting the compliant majority. Although the tools are
already in place for Rent Smart Wales and local authorities to effectively police the sector,
they need to be used more effectively to achieve this goal.

Pack Page 75



7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

7.8

However, while the tools are already in place for Rent Smart Wales and local authorities to
effectively police the sector and root out rogue landlords, they need to be used more
effectively.

Despite the establishment of Rent Smart Wales, the number of inspections carried out by
local authorities in Wales under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is
falling. In 2018-19, 5,652 assessments were carried out across Wales, which is 10% less than
the previous year and the lowest number since 2011-12.?® We urge local authorities to
increase their efforts in enforcing regulations and taking action against rogue landlords, to
ensure that all tenants have access to safe and well-maintained homes.

Furthermore, an evaluation of Rent Smart Wales conducted by the Welsh Government
showed that®:

e A large proportion (42%) of tenants said they were unaware of the existence of the
organisation.

e Many local authority representatives questioned for the report said that they “did not
have detailed plans specific for Rent Smart Wales enforcement activities.”

e Councils reported a lack of capacity to undertake prosecution and enforcement action.
The report goes on to note: “Local authority interviewees suggested that enforcement
was not being carried out to its fullest extent due to a lack of capacity. This was cited in
relation to both the capacity of the local authorities as well as Rent Smart Wales.”

In 2022, Rent Smart Wales was unable to service its phone lines sufficiently for a period of
time. Whilst the service has now been restored, this period meant tenants and landlords
who contacted the service were unable to access support.

Rather than introducing additional regulations that may harm investment in the sector, an
assessment of Rent Smart Wales should be conducted by Audit Wales to establish if it is
meeting its objectives and advise on what improvements could be made to ensure it is
effectively regulating the sector with the tools it already has.

Rent Smart Wales should also be required to publish annual performance statistics that
include property conditions, energy efficiency data, the number of landlords in Wales, and
other key tenure data to provide a more comprehensive picture of its performance.

Finally, a Scrutiny Board should be established to provide oversight of Rent Smart Wales,
and include representatives from across the sector, including tenant and landlord
representative bodies. This Board should have the power to prepare reports and make
recommendations to the Welsh Government. By implementing these measures, we can
work towards a more effective regulatory environment that supports the private rented
sector, while rooting out rogue landlords and promoting compliance among the majority of
responsible landlords.

* Welsh Government, Housing Hazards and Licenses, 2018-19, March 2020, available at: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-
03/housing-hazards-and-licences-april-2018-march-2019-649.pdf.

» Welsh Government, Evaluation of Rent Smart Wales Implementation and Delivery Final Evaluation Report, June 2018, available at:
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-05/evaluation-of-rent-smart-wales-implementation-and-delivery-final-report.pdf.

Pack Page 76


https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-03/housing-hazards-and-licences-april-2018-march-2019-649.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-03/housing-hazards-and-licences-april-2018-march-2019-649.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-05/evaluation-of-rent-smart-wales-implementation-and-delivery-final-report.pdf

8.0

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved

The available data on the private rented sector in Wales is significantly less comprehensive
than what is available in England. Our upcoming State of the Welsh Private Rented Sector
report highlights the difficulty of getting an in-depth understanding of the PRS in Wales, as
data on its size, energy efficiency of the rented housing stock, costs, and other key issues are
not available in a central location as can be found in the English Housing Survey.

As policy is developed concerning the private rented sector it needs to be rooted in evidence
based on what works. At present much policy is being considered based on anecdotal
evidence, or evidence that is not up to date, some of which predates the coronavirus
pandemic. The private rented sector in Wales has significantly changed since then, but some
of the latest data we have retrieved from government sources, such as the StatsWales
website, was quite antiquated.

There remains a considerable amount of valuable information that is not tracked by the
Welsh Government. For example, it would be helpful to understand the average income of
private renters, their levels of savings, their future housing needs, and aspirations - and how
many dependents they have, to fully understand the role that the PRS plays in Wales.

To address this, we call for the development of an annual Welsh Housing Survey, similar to
that conducted and produced in England. Our proposal has received support from several
organisations from across the housing sector, including Shelter and Crisis, and has
bipartisan support in the Senedd.

In the meantime, as an interim measure, the Welsh Government should require Rent Smart
Wales (RSW) to regularly publish details of all the data it currently holds on the make-up of
the private rented sector. Furthermore, RSW should measure any key metrics that it does not
presently cover to inform policymakers on the size and make-up of the Welsh private rented
sector.

Pack Page 77



Papur 8 / Paper 8

propertymark

Senedd Local Government and Housing Committee inquiry into the private rented sector
Response from Propertymark

May 2023

Background

Propertymark is the UK’s leading professional body for estate and letting agents, inventory
providers, commercial agents, auctioneers and valuers, comprising over 17,000 members. We are
member-led with a Board which is made up of practicing agents and we work closely with our
members to set professional standards through regulation, accredited and recognised
qualifications, an industry-leading training programme and mandatory Continuing Professional
Development.

Overview

The Senedd’s Local Government and Housing Committee has started an inquiry into the Private
Rented Sector (PRS) in Wales. The Committee’s terms of reference have included looking at
supply, quality and affordability, current challenges, opportunities for partnership working with
the social sector, the effectiveness of regulation, barriers to accessing the sector and the
availability of data on the PRS.

The supply, quality, and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector

Supply

3.

The supply of privately rented properties in Wales is of major concern. A survey of Welsh landlords
by BVA-BDRC illustrates that in Wales 79% of landlords reported tenant demand having increased
in the third quarter of 2021. Despite this rising demand, whilst 16% of Welsh landlords said they
were likely to expand their portfolios, a larger proportion (19%) said they were planning to cut
theirs. Most Welsh landlords (54%) said they were expecting their portfolio to remain the same
size. Our report, A Shrinking Private Rented Sector! found that 53% of buy-to-let properties sold
in March 2022 left the PRS and 84% of respondents told us that the number of new investors in
the PRS has decreased over the past three years. Finally, there was a 49% reduction in properties
available to rent per branch in March 2022 compared to March 2019. While this is data for the
UK, the issue with supply is likely to be replicated in Wales as supply is struggling to keep up with
demand across the country.

Supply — solutions

4.

To increase the supply of homes to rent in Wales urgent action is required from the Welsh
Government in three ways:

e  Firstly, exempt landlords from the 4% Land Transaction Tax Levy on the purchase of additional
homes providing, they were used for long-term residential let.

e Secondly, launch a review of all taxes relating to private landlords. Investment is stalling
because the phasing out of tax relief on mortgage interest for landlords, the additional LTT

1 A shrinking private rented sector | Propertymark

1
Pack Page 78


https://www.propertymark.co.uk/resource/a-shrinking-private-renter-sector.html

propertymark

surcharge on buy-to-let property Through a review of taxation, the Welsh Government will be
better placed to introduce policies that reduce costs for those wishing to invest in the private
rented sector, which in turn will help boost supply and make it more affordable for renters.

e Thirdly, provide financial support through grants and loans to support to landlords upgrading
the energy efficiency of their properties.

Standards and quality in the Welsh PRS

5.

We believe there is sufficient legislation through the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 20162 and the
Renting Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) (Wales) Regulations 2022 to ensure that standards
are kept high in the PRS. However, the difficulty is in local authorities’ ability and capacity to
enforce these standards. Concerningly, the number of inspections carried out by local authorities
in Wales under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is falling. In 2018-19, only
5,652 assessments were carried out across Wales, a fall of 10% on the previous year and the
lowest total since 2011-12.

Standards and quality in the Welsh PRS - solutions

6.

Councils can play a crucial role in driving up standards in the private rented sector, but more needs
to be done to resource local authority enforcement teams rather than creating new legislation
that won’t be enforced. The Welsh Government must do three things:

e Firstly, allow sufficient time for the Renting Homes (Wales) Act to be fully implemented before
embarking on a further round of changes to the sector.

e Secondly, there needs to be more funding for local authorities to ensure they have the
resources needed to tackle poor quality housing. Additionally, local authorities should be
required to report back on the number of inspections and any follow up enforcement action
taken as a result including how much they have spent and any outcomes such as the general
condition of properties in their areas.

e Thirdly, the Welsh Government should work with local authorities to develop an
apprenticeship scheme to increase the number of local authority enforcement officers,
resulting in more property inspections.

Affordability

7.

On 3 March 2023, the Senedd Local Government and Housing Committee closed their inquiry into
making the right to adequate housing law in Wales. This is on the back of the commitment made
by the Minister for Climate Change who has responsibility for housing, as part of Welsh Labour’s
Cooperation Agreement to form a government with Plaid Cymru, to publish a Green and White
Paper on fair rents in the Summer of 2024. Propertymark backed the call to make adequate
housing law in Wales?, however, while the work is interlinked with the work of fair rents, we do
not support rent controls. Rather than adding further financial hardship to landlords already under
financial strain from unprecedented costs, we believe adequate housing can be achieved by

2 Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 (legislation.gov.uk)

3 Propertymark backs call for right to adequate housing | Propertymark

2
Pack Page 79


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/1/contents
https://www.propertymark.co.uk/resource/propertymark-backs-call-for-right-to-adequate-housing.html

propertymark

raising standards and adopting a more quid pro quo relationship between governments with
landlords and their agents.

Affordability — solutions

8. Whilst demand continues to outstrip supply in the private rented sector and not enough homes
are being built each year, landlords and letting agents remain increasingly important to those who
need a safe and secure place to live. Consequently, the Welsh Government need to do more to
help landlords and implement the following changes:

e The long-term solution to address the lack of affordability in the private rented sector is to
ensure that more social housing is built to reduce housing need. The demand for social
housing has far outstripped availability, meaning that many people who most need help with
affordability now live in the.

e The Welsh Government must lobby the UK Government to restore and retain Local Housing
Allowance (LHA) rates to at least the 30" percentile to cover the average cost of rents in the
lowest third of local markets prepare the housing market for an increase in rental demand.
Propertymark are members of the Homes for all Cymru campaign, a coalition of Welsh
organisations who have joined forces to call on the UK Government to end the freeze on LHA.
In addition, we have recently written to this committee, asking if the committee would
consider looking at the feasibility of the Welsh Government devolving LHA levels and Broad
Rental Market Areas as part of the committee’s work programme. We believe that BRMA’s
used to define a local area for LHA levels are too large and often include two local authority
areas. This does not allow for local market rates within the area to be truly reflected.

e Support tenants with affordability when renting by doing three things to help with the cost
and payment of deposits. Firstly, the Welsh Government should be doing more to encourage
employers to offer staff an interest free loan to pay for their deposit when moving into private
rented property. Secondly, raise awareness to allow tenants to pay their deposit instalments.
Thirdly, wider use of deposit bond schemes. The Bond is an agreement between a local
authority, the landlord or letting agent and the incoming tenant. It is not a transfer of cash,
but a written guarantee issued to the landlord on behalf of the tenant to cover the deposit for
the property they wish to rent.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords

9. Landlords in Wales are facing four key challenges:

e New and impending energy efficiency targets for private rented property -
the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards Regulations 2015* make itunlawfulto let a
privately rented property in England and Wales with an EPC rating below E, subject to
various exemptions which must be registered online. The UK Government have still not
published their consultation which will likely pave the way for it to be a requirement for all
new tenancies to have an EPC of C by 2025 and all existing tenancies to meet a C rating by
2028. As part of the consultation, a costs cap exemption was discussed whereby if the cost of
getting to EPC C was greater than £10,000, then the property could be exempt for five years.

4 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 (legislation.gov.uk)

3
Pack Page 80


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111128350/contents

propertymark

The £10,000 costs cap will have a greater impact in areas such as Wales where property values
are less than other areas of the UK. Propertymark commissioned the think tank, Localis who
produced a report entitles Lagging behind® which looked at the energy efficiency in low-
viability properties. The report urges all governments to give serious consideration to the
impact of regional variability in house prices and dwelling stock when installing heat pumps
to hit decarbonisation targets. This would allow local authorities to set up one stop shops
which could combine sub regionally to enjoy economies of scale, joint funding, and support
as well as improved data collection to understand local challenges in retrofit. Specifically, to
Wales, to address the impact costs will have on Welsh landlords against overall property
values, we believe the Development Bank of Wales should offer grants and interest free loans
to landlords to address these challenges and to ensure their properties are compliant.

e Changes to landlord taxation rules - one of the biggest challenges to landlords is the phasing
out of tax-deductible costs such as mortgage interest as part of Section 24 of the Finance Act.®
As part of our budget representation to HM Treasury, we called for the reversal of Section 24
and for the UK Government to view landlords as a small business and to allow them to claim
100 per cent of their mortgage interest when filing their tax returns.” The phasing out of
Mortgage Interest Relief may have been the correct decision at the time to level the playing
field between landlords and home buyers. However, with interest rates increasing
exponentially, we believe this is a key factor for many landlords exiting the market.

e Threat of rent controls - as part of the Co-operation Agreement between the Welsh
Government and Plaid Cymru®, there will be a commitment to publish a Green and White
Paper on adequate housing and fair rents. Given these serious challenges to landlords and the
sector in general, we do not support rent controls for Wales. Moving these challenges aside
for the time being, we do not believe rent controls work and ultimately will reduce incentives
for landlords to invest in their properties and make improvements. In Scotland where the
Scottish Government have capped rents through the Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) Act
2022°, we have received evidence from Propertymark member agents in Scotland that show
the impact in three ways. Firstly, the legislation is having an effect on landlord confidence with
the majority of agents continuing to see landlords exiting the market since the legislation was
introduced. Secondly, the crux of the housing problem is that demand is far outstripping
supply - the legislation is having the opposite effect by pushing landlords out of the sector.
Thirdly, rent increases have never been a significant factor, yet this legislation and the threat
of further rent control is forcing landlords to put up rents between tenancies to cover any
future cost implications.

e Complexity of legislation - on 1 December 2022, the Renting Homes (Wales) Act came into
force.l® The Act brings several pieces of legislation into one legal framework and includes a
number of measures that we believe are positive. However, the Act brings fundamental
change to renting in Wales and we have reservations whether some landlords are ready for
this level of change. Anecdotal evidence based on conversations we have had with PRS lead
officers from local authorities alludes to the fact that the complexity of the legislation is

5040 LaggingBehind PRF3 HR Final.pdf (localis.org.uk)

6 Finance Act 2023 (legislation.gov.uk)

7 Propertymark 2023 Spring Budget representation | Propertymark

8 The Co-Operation Agreement (gov.wales)

9 Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022 (legislation.gov.uk)
10 Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 (legislation.gov.uk)

4
Pack Page 81


https://www.localis.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/040_LaggingBehind_PRF3_HR_Final.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/1/contents/enacted
https://www.propertymark.co.uk/resource/propertymark-2023-spring-budget-representation.html
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-agreement-2021.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2022/10/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/1/contents

propertymark

forcing many smaller landlords to exit the sector. Larger portfolio landlords and those
landlords with managed lets from a letting agent are proving more resilient. In terms of the
impact on letting agents, we believe that the legislation is clear on the relationship between
landlords and contract holders. The legislation assumes that a landlord may discharge duties
to a letting agent. However, the legislation does not make it clear where this might be
appropriate and the implications. Furthermore, there appears to be some ambivalence on
personal information required from landlords. Although we have now had clarity from the
Welsh Government that landlords may use the address of a letting agent within contracts in
place of their own address, this needs to be communicated to avoid confusion. Finally, given
our concerns over the extent that some landlords are prepared for the legislation, the
Committee might like to consider the appropriateness of deadlines for landlords and letting
agents to issue written statements of contracts to contract holders for existing tenancies by 1
June 2023. We believe that additional time is needed to ensure landlords are complaint and
aware of their responsibilities.

The opportunities for greater partnership working between social and private landlords

10. Ahead of the 2021 Senedd elections, Propertymark produced a Wales manifesto which called for
more social and affordable housing to be built in Wales. It is well documented that demand for
social housing in Wales far out strips supply. However, while there is a growing need for social
housing across the UK, the situation in Wales is even more acute due to deprivation levels and the
increasingly aged population. According to the Welsh Government’s population projections, the
number of people aged 65 or older is projected to increase by 16.1% to 776,300 between mid-
2020 and mid-2030.1 We believe that both social and private landlords can have a role in
providing specialist accommodation for the increasing number of older and disabled people who
require housing either through building more specialist housing or by adapting the existing
housing stock. There are three things that can be done:

e Firstly, to make existing stock more accessible, local authorities in Wales need to work more
collaboratively with private landlords and letting agents to highlight the benefits of future
proofing their housing stock for the growing number of aged people accessing the PRS. This
could be achieved by working with landlords to encouraging them to access the Disabled
Facility Grant (DFG) if they have a tenant that requires an adaptation. Currently, take up of the
DFG in the Welsh PRS is extremely low, with most grants going to the social sector.® This is
despite the fact more older and disabled people are accessing the PRS due to the shortfall in
social homes.

e Secondly, there is a growing need of accessible housing in Wales and the PRS can work in
partnership by collaborating with local authorities and highlighting where PRS stock might
be suitable for older or disabled people. To achieve this, we would recommend that local
authorities populate a register of accessible properties in their local areas. Where there is
insufficient accessible housing in the social sector, the local authority could then signpost
contract holders that require adapted properties to the PRS.

11 propertymark releases action plan for next Welsh Government | Propertymark
12 National population projections (interim data): 2020-based | GOV.WALES
13 Disabled facilities grants by local authority area and type of grant (gov.wales)

5
Pack Page 82


https://www.propertymark.co.uk/resource/propertymark-releases-action-plan-for-next-welsh-government.html
https://www.gov.wales/national-population-projections-interim-data-2020-based#:~:text=Wales%20population%20projections%20by%20age&text=The%20number%20of%20people%20aged,%2D2020%20and%20mid%2D2030.
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Disabled-Facitilities-Grants/disabledfacilitiesgrants-by-area-granttype

propertymark

e Thirdly, while the building of social homes increases to meet supply, the PRS has an
important role in housing vulnerable people. We believe that local authorities should
improve engagement with landlords and letting agents to engage with them in
opportunities to support vulnerable people. Many local authorities in Wales have landlord
forums, but we are meeting with several local authorities to encourage them to have bespoke
letting agent engagement events with Pembrokeshire County Council recently running a
letting agents forum. Firstly, this could be an opportunity to better integrate letting agents
with the Welsh Government’s Social Leasing Programme. Secondly, for private landlords to
support the work of social housing suppliers in housing vulnerable people and those at most
risk of homelessness, we would recommend that local authorities consider incentives through
grants and loans or through council tax rebates. This type of support is increasingly used by
local authorities in London.

Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young people and people

with pets

11.

12.

Whereas owning a property is financially out of reach for many young people, young people are
increasingly reliant on the PRS for accommodation. However, there are often welfare barriers to
accessing the PRS for young people. As part of our budget representation to the UK Government,
we called for the suspension of the Shared Accommodation Rate. The Shared Accommodation
Rate (SAR) limits the amount of Housing Benefit that single person under the age of 35 can receive.
We believe given the impact Covid-19 has had on young people, this is unfair and restricts housing
options for young people.

With regards to renting with pets, the Renting Homes (Fees etc) (Wales) Act 2019 states that the
security deposit is not capped in the legislation. This means that agents in Wales can take a higher
security deposit if the tenant has a pet to mitigate against any pet related damage. Furthermore,
the Renting Homes Act, can allow a pet clause as an additional term in the contract which enables
a contract-holder to ask for permission to keep a pet, and the landlord is not allowed to
unreasonably refuse the request. Recognising the advantages of contract holders having a pet in
terms of companionship and improving mental health, we encourage our members to be
reasonable in this regard.

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated

13.

Landlords and letting agents are mainly regulated by the Rent Smart Wales (RSW)** regime, where
landlords and agents are required to apply for a licence. This involves paying for a licence,
completing mandatory training, a fitness and propriety check and for agents’ proof of business
safeguards and evidence of managed properties is required. In terms of regulation, we believe this
is a good start. There are two things the Welsh Government can do to improve the effectiveness
of how the private rented sector is regulated:

e Firstly, improve the accountability of Rent Smart Wales - RSW covers the whole of Wales but
is managed from Cardiff City Council. While we are relatively supportive of the aims of RSW,
we believe that RSW lacks transparency and a clear line of accountability. The work of RSW
does not appear to be guided by a central national strategy nor does there appear to be an

14 https://rentsmart.gov.wales/?fdChange=1

6
Pack Page 83


https://rentsmart.gov.wales/?fdChange=1

propertymark

annual evaluation of RSW’s work. While RSW operates from Cardiff City Council, there does
not appear to be any political scrutiny function acting as a critical friend to evaluate its work
other than as part of ad-hoc inquiries and questions from the Senedd. We believe the work of
RSW would be enriched if they produced a public annual report into RSW’s performance
with direct scrutiny by the Senedd every year rather than on an ad-hoc basis.

o Secondly, extend the training requirements for letting agents to qualifications - the Welsh
Government’s policy intention through Rent Smart Wales is looking at training and the
registration of property, whereas we believe regulation should be focused on ensuring that
every agent involved in lettings has the right skills to do the job and meets a minimum training
standard through qualifications. We believe all agencies should ensure relevant staff are
qualified and that staff understand and follow a Code of Practice. Unlike the training
requirement through Rent Smart Wales, achieving a qualification should never be a box ticking
exercise. Completing the right qualification drives the credibility of the sector and equips
agents with the tools to meet the challenges ahead.

The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved

14. There are two main challenges in the availability of data for the PRS. Firstly, there is a lack of data,
research, and evidence to support evidence-based policy decision making. Secondly, there are
limitations in data submitted by landlords and letting agents to the Rent Office Wales to support
official statistics. The Welsh Government should do two things to improve the availability of data
on the private rented sector:

e  Firstly, introduce a Welsh Housing Survey - in October 2020, Propertymark signed a joint
letter with the National Residential Landlords Association (NRLA) and other housing bodies
calling for the Welsh Government to implement a Welsh Housing Survey.'® Based on the long
running English Housing Survey, which has been in place since 1967.% By basing a Welsh
Survey on the English survey, data could be compared between the two nations. We also
believe that a Welsh Housing Survey could have the potential to collect a wealth of
information such as data on the proportion of private rented sector tenancies ended by the
tenant, the levels of satisfaction among social renters and the percentage of owner-occupied
homes that are under-occupied. Through the Welsh Housing Survey, we would encourage the
Welsh Government and local authorities to work with both landlords and letting agents to
make case studies to highlight good practice within the sector. This could improve the image
of landlords and highlight the increasingly important work they do in housing many vulnerable
people in society. There is currently very little data on the PRS for policy makers to make
evidence-based decision, and policy is often made on anecdotal evidence. The main data
sources are the National Survey for Wales and the Housing Conditions Evidence
Programme?®, which are limited in their uses and insufficient for the needs of the sector.

e Secondly, support the Rent Officers Wales - the Rent Officers Wales® provide an important
function for data within the Welsh PRS. The Rent Officers Wales work includes compiling and

15 propertymark backs NRLA calls for a Welsh Housing Survey | Propertymark
16 English Housing Survey - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

17 National Survey for Wales | GOV.WALES

18 Housing Stock Analytical Resource | GOV.WALES

19 Rent Officers Wales | GOV.WALES

7
Pack Page 84


https://www.propertymark.co.uk/resource/propertymark-backs-nrla-calls-for-a-welsh-housing-survey.html#:~:text=Propertymark%20has%20joined%20up%20with%20the%20National%20Residential,housing%20by%20introducing%20a%20Welsh%20Housing%20Survey%20%28WHS%29.
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-housing-survey
https://www.gov.wales/national-survey-wales
https://www.gov.wales/housing-stock-analytical-resource-0#:~:text=It%20will%20provide%20a%20continuous%20and%20robust%20anonymised,policy%20direction%2C%20particularly%20housing%20conditions%20and%20fuel%20poverty.
https://www.gov.wales/rent-officers-wales

propertymark

maintaining lists of council tax bands for every property in Wales, advising ministers on
valuation, property matters and benefits, setting the Housing element of Universal Credit and
setting Local Housing Allowance levels for Wales. However, their data is reliant on landlords
and agents who operate in Wales submitting their rental data to the office. We believe that
letting agents have an important opportunity to supply large volumes of rental data to the
Rent Officer Wales as they have access to rental data from their landlord clients and this can
be submitted through their CMS systems directly to the Rent Officers Wales. However, despite
the important role that landlords and agents have in data submission, there appears to be a
reluctance shown from both landlords and agents in submitting their data. We have recently
met with officials from the Rent Officers Wales, to investigate ways in which agents could be
encouraged to submit their data. One proposal to improve the quality and amount of rental
data, could be that Rent Smart Wales collects this data via their records of licensee holders of
landlords and agents operating in Wales.

8
Pack Page 85



Papur 9 / Paper 9

Paragon Bank response to the Senedd’s Local Government and Housing
Committee’s inquiry, ‘Private rented sector’

Background to Paragon Bank

Paragon Bank is a specialist lending and savings bank authorised in February 2014.
The bank is the principal entity of the Paragon Banking Group PLC, which has been
trading since 1985. The business is managed through two lending divisions: Mortgage
Lending, including buy-to-let, and Commercial Lending, which includes Development
Finance, SME Lending, Motor Finance and Structured Finance. These are primarily
funded through our retail deposit base, supplemented with wholesale and central bank
borrowings.

Paragon is a leading independent provider of mortgages to landlords in the UK’s
private rented sector. Paragon pioneered buy-to-let (BTL) lending in the UK, launching
the first products in 1995, and we have consistently led the development of socially
responsible BTL lending policies over the last two decades. Today, we specialise in
portfolio landlords, a group that provides the majority of PRS housing supply.

We provide BTL mortgages across all regions of the UK, including Wales where we
operate in cities and rural communities. Here, we provide over £250 million of lending
across nearly 2,000 accounts.

Given our experience, we are very aware of the importance of the private rented sector
(PRS) to the housing sector and UK more broadly. The PRS and portfolio landlords
who provide high-quality homes act as a key economic enabler, with tenants
appreciating the model which allows them to move frequently and easily to areas they
could not afford to buy. The PRS is the tenure of the working person and provides the
housing market fluidity required for people to easily move to seek work.

We are therefore pleased with the opportunity to submit evidence to the Senedd’s
Local Government and Housing Committee’s inquiry into the PRS. We hope our
submission is of use and we would be pleased to provide further information on its
contents should that be helpful.

Executive Summary

e The PRS has grown rapidly over the last three decades with more people
entering the tenure, more staying in the sector for longer, and families and older
people representing an increasing proportion of tenants. In Wales, the PRS
accounts for 17.1% of all tenures.

e For many tenants, the PRS is the most suitable housing option for their needs,
while the majority of renters are happy with their current property and their
landlord.

Pack Page 86



e Despite the growing popularity and proportion of tenants entering and staying
in the PRS, there is a mismatch between supply and demand, with more
landlords choosing to exit the sector because of previous policy decisions and
tax changes, which has led to significant price inflation and a reduction in choice
and availability for tenants. Reducing availability has been compounded in
some regions of Wales with the growing popularity of short term lets and
significant student populations. Paragon therefore encourages the Committee
to consider how supply pressures could be alleviated with a greater focus on
housing delivery.

e Whilst we support the Welsh Government’'s measures to improve the PRS
market for both tenants and landlords, we suggest the Committee consider how
new regulations could be optimally introduced in a manner that consolidates
existing rules and regulations, rather than layering additional disparate
obligations on landlords. Moreover, we suggest the Committee consider the
benefits of a comprehensive review of existing PRS regulations to ensure they
are delivering the desired results.

e We support the principle of raising the required EPC standards in the PRS but
have concerns regarding the achievability of current timelines. We suggest the
Governments in the UK and Wales consider the domestic retrofitting industry
more broadly and cost effective steps that could be taken to develop industrial
capacity and an upskilled workforce in order to deliver retrofitting targets.

The PRS in context

The UK’s PRS has grown rapidly over the last three decades and today one in five
households rely on the tenure for a home, compared to one in ten in the year 2000".
In Wales, the PRS accounts for 17.1% of all tenures?. Population growth, wider
participation in higher education and labour mobility have all impacted demand for
rental accommodation. Layered on top of this has been lower investment in social
housing, insufficient house-building and tighter mortgage affordability which, along
with the significant growth in house prices over the last ten years, mean more people
are entering the PRS, more are staying in the sector for longer, and more families are
relying on the PRS for a long-term home.

Modelling by the Social Market Foundation?, based on English Housing Survey data,
shows that even if Government policy leads to an increase in levels of home

! National Statistics, 2022. English Housing Survey, Private rented sector 2020-21.
https://assets.publishing.service.qov.uk/qovernment/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/1088486/
EHS 20-21 PRS Report.pdf

2 Office for National Statistics, 2021. Housing, England and Wales: Census 2021.
https://www.ons.qov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingenglandandwales/census2
021#tenure

3 Social Market Foundation, 2022. Where next for the private rented sector?. https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2022/03/Where-next-for-the-private-rented-sector-March-2022.pdf

Pack Page 87


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1088486/EHS_20-21_PRS_Report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1088486/EHS_20-21_PRS_Report.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingenglandandwales/census2021#tenure
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingenglandandwales/census2021#tenure
https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Where-next-for-the-private-rented-sector-March-2022.pdf
https://www.smf.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Where-next-for-the-private-rented-sector-March-2022.pdf

ownership, the PRS will be home to millions of people in 2035. By 2035, over half of
households in the private rented sector will be headed by someone over 45, up from
around a third today. Couples and house shares will also account for a growing
proportion of private renting households, up from 29% today to 36% in a decade and
a half. Half of today’s tenants expect to be renting a home in 15 years. This is driven
by a range of factors, primarily based on affordability. However, challenging the
perception of all tenants as ‘frustrated first-time buyers’ (although these make up a
significant proportion), the age profile of the PRS is changing and many renters are
content to remain in the sector or see it as suitable for their needs, with one in five
tenants not wishing to buy a property, increasing with age to just under half of those
aged 55 and older.

While policy and social attention has rightly focused on the minority of private renters
that have had bad experiences, this can create a misleading impression. Polling
suggests that 81% of tenants are happy with their current property and 85% are
satisfied with their landlord, while private renters particularly value not having to pay
for repairs or insurance and other costs*. Others see it as a way to afford to live in
areas in which they couldn’t afford to buy or live flexibly.

Nonetheless, there are clear disadvantages that come with renting. Given the growth
in the proportion of the population who are spending longer in the PRS, and the
importance of the PRS in providing housing for families who would otherwise be
unable to afford a property, it is right that the Welsh Government is seeking to
strengthen the sector. New legislation can promote the continued vibrancy of the
sector, provide tenants and landlords with more rights and protections that enable
people to live in the home they want for the duration of time that suits them best, and
ensure that housing stock in the PRS is safe, modern, comfortable and energy
efficient.

The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented
sector

The UK’s PRS is currently experiencing both high levels of demand and a shortage of
homes available to renters. Data from Zoopla® reveals that reveals rental demand is
51% higher compared to the relative five year average, whereas stock of homes
available to rent is 33% lower in comparison to the same average. The combination of
strong demand and a shortage of homes is causing rent prices to increase, with the
average annual rental inflation for new lets in the UK increasing by 11.1%.

The impact of high demand and the lack of homes to rent is also present in the PRS
in Wales. Zoopla data reveals there has been a 10.3% annual increase in rent prices

4 1bid.
5 Zoopla, 2023. Rental market report: what’s happening to rents?.
https://www.zoopla.co.uk/discover/property-news/rental-market-report-march-2023/

Pack Page 88


https://www.zoopla.co.uk/discover/property-news/rental-market-report-march-2023/

in Wales. The same data also shows that the affordability in the Welsh PRS for a single
earner stands at 29.5% with the average monthly rent reaching £812.

Whilst supply issues in the Welsh PRS are not isolated to either cities or rural areas,
the market is not homogenous and Paragon’s experience indicates a range of factors
across the regions impact on the availability of homes and their quality. For example,
North West Wales is a growing tourist area and this squeezes supply in the rental
tenure as more properties are repurposed as short-term lets to meet the increased
demand from temporary holidaymakers.

North Wales more broadly is a region that faces particularly acute issues, both in terms
of lack of supply of rental properties and for experiencing a lower standard of property
than elsewhere in the country. This is partly driven by the lower density of property in
the region reducing supply but also by the relatively low capital appreciation of
properties reducing the attractiveness of the area as a location in which to invest.

Demand and availability in the South of Wales is predominately focused in the major
cities and, within them, the universities and their large student populations. There are
also local factors that impact on supply and demand. For example, the removal of toll
bridge between Bristol and Newport led to an influx of relocation to the area and
inflated prices within the Newport PRS.

Given the impact of shortages in the PRS, which can also be found in the wider
housing market, Paragon encourages the Committee to consider how pressures could
be alleviated with a greater focus on housing delivery. Build-to-rent developments are
welcome but they alone cannot deliver the additional number of tenancies necessary
to meet demand. We suggest the Committee also consider how housing delivery can
be targeted at the areas in which demand is most acute.

The challenges currently facing private sector landlords

Most landlords seek to provide a high quality of services to their tenants however there
are several challenges associated with the profession in Wales. For example, the
perception and rhetoric pertaining to landlords from the Welsh Government and the
media is persistently negative and generalises a certain stereotype which conflates all
landlords with the rogue few. This has real consequences in terms of the introduction
of burdensome, ill-designed regulation and the vilification also discourages investment
from the market, perpetuating the shortage of homes available to rent and pushing up
prices even higher.

A practical challenge that landlords in Wales face is that of property maintenance.
There is a lack of good quality managing agents available throughout the country and
as a result landlords can struggle to maintain their property to the standards they and
tenants would expect in a timely fashion.

Pack Page 89



Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing
young people and people with pets

The primary barrier facing young people in Wales’s PRS is the lack of homes available
for students. Wales is home to some of the UK’s leading higher education institutions
and each of these attracts a significant number of students from across the UK and
abroad. For example, the universities of Aberystwyth and Bangor both have large
student populations and as a result require a sizeable PRS to support them. This is
manageable in some locations but the shortages seen in the wider PRS can be also
found in the student market. We are therefore seeing price inflation in this market too,
with young people consequently struggling to find affordable accommodation during
their studies. This can be compounded with international students’ willingness to pay
higher rent prices.

How effectively the private rented sector is regulated

Paragon supports the Welsh Government’s intentions to improve the PRS market for
both tenants and landlords. The regulation and measures introduced so far should
lead to better outcomes for all parties and a more equitable market. Most landlords
comply with these regulations at a minimum and in many cases go over and above to
ensure the property is at a high standard. Unfortunately, there is a small majority of
rogue landlords that Paragon does not let against that do not comply with the
regulations and damage the reputation of the many responsible actors in the market.
Moreover, despite the new regulations, local authorities lack the sufficient powers to
police these rogue landlords.

Whilst most landlords support the Welsh Government’s intentions to improve the PRS,
they have also expressed their concerns as to the sheer volume of regulation that has
been introduced so far. It has been reported that the new requirements are challenging
to understand and navigate, and are leading accidental landlords to exit the market.
This feeds into the issue of too few properties in the PRS, with it being unclear as to
who will replace those who leave the market and maintain sufficient levels of supply.

Similarly, there is waning enthusiasm amongst older landlords to rent out homes
following the 2018 reform on Land Transaction Tax, which is more onerous than
England’s Stamp Duty Land Tax, and the introduction of further regulation in 2020.
The view of many of these landlords is that participation in the market is becoming too
costly, particularly given that Wales is only partway through the process of introducing
the new PRS reforms, leading to a reluctance to continue with their investment.

The Welsh Government should therefore consider how to optimally introduce new
PRS legislation in a manner that consolidates existing rules and regulations, rather
than layering additional disparate obligations on landlords. Moreover, Paragon urge
the Committee to consider the benefits of a comprehensive review of existing PRS
regulations to ensure they are delivering the desired results. For example, Paragon

Pack Page 90



understand that many letting agents are not satisfied with Rent Smart Wales as they
find it difficult to manage, expensive and cumbersome.

More broadly, Paragon supports the principle of raising the required EPC standards in
the PRS from E to C in England and Wales as the UK Government first proposed in
the 2020 consultation. However, we caution against the proposed timeline of apply this
to all new tenancies from 2025 and all tenancies from 2028. We believe this will be
unachievable due factors such as stock and labour limitations, and in the immediate
term it may push landlords out of the market, reducing choice and accessibility for
tenants and further driving up costs. To be achievable, clear and reasonable
timeframes for carrying out the works together with a cohesive policy on rental
properties are key. As the Government prepares to outline its final proposals, we
suggest extending the implementation deadline for new tenancies to 2028 and all
tenancies by 2030.

Paragon also encourages the Governments in the UK and Wales to consider the
domestic retrofitting industry more broadly and cost effective steps that could be taken
to support its development. Retrofitting the UK’s housing stock could significantly
reduce carbon emissions, improve energy efficiency and increase energy security, but
these benefits cannot be delivered without industrial capacity and an upskilled
workforce. Measures should therefore be taken to kick start a sufficient level of
demand that can stimulate the growth in the sector, leading to reduced costs and
greater accessibility for consumers in the medium-term. For example, more favourable
tax incentives such as making any upgrade/improvement works tax deductible or
reducing VAT on building materials for landlords and EPC improvements would
provide a boost to this nascent sector.

The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved

Data availability for Wales’s PRS varies and is particularly poor in rural areas. Rural
Welsh communities are often data blind spots as it is common to advertise rental
properties on social media, such as communities Facebook hubs, as opposed to
official letting agents. Data availability can therefore depend on the culture of a given
area, and Paragon does not lend in these locations as a result because they are not
marketable. Moreover, the lack of data means there is no way to accurate understand
the size of the market, availability of new tenures or the average rent price and whether
it is increasing or decreasing. We urge the Committee to consider steps the Welsh
Government could take to improve the availability of data in these areas, such as with
the introduction of a property portal such as that proposed by the UK Government.

Pack Page 91



Papur 1Q / Paper 10

Agenda ltem 5

v, >
Dogs Trust Consultation Response X

DogsTrust

Senedd Local Government and Housing Committee inquiry
into the private rented sector, May 2023.

Introduction

Dogs Trust is the UK’s largest dog welfare charity. We usually care for around 14,000
dogs per year through our network of rehoming centres across the UK. In 2022 we
cared for 1,322 dogs in Wales, from our sites in Bridgend and Cardiff. We welcome
the decision of the Local Government and Housing Committee, to conduct an inquiry
into the private rented sector (PRS) in Wales, specifically how pet ownership can be
a barrier to accessing the PRS for many people in Wales.

Key Messages

e A lack of pet friendly homes in the PRS is one of the key drivers of people
handing over their dogs to our rehoming centres in Wales. Between December
2022 and the end of March 2023, 118 people enquired about handing over
their dogs to our rehoming centres in Wales citing “a change in
accommodation or rental agreement” as a reason for wanting to relinquish
their dog(s) to us.

e Research shows considerable health and wellbeing benefits for people
associated with pet ownership, which supports the aims and objectives of a
number of Welsh Government strategies.

e YouGov data commissioned by Dogs Trust shows a disparity between
landlords and letting agents’ perceptions of pet-related issues, compared to
actual, reported issues experienced by PRS landlords in Wales.

e Dogs Trust is opposed to blanket “No Pet” policies across all types of tenure,
including the PRS.

e We believe there must be societal and legislative change in Wales to remove
barriers for pet owners in the PRS. With proposed legislative work expected to
strengthen tenants’ rights to keep pets in England and Scotland, we are
concerned that renters in Wales risk being left behind and the continued lack

Pack Page 92

© Dogs Trust 2023 Registered charity numbers: 227523 & SC037843



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

of pet friendly PRS accommodation in Wales will have a negative impact on
the welfare of dogs and their owners in Wales.

Pet Friendly Housing in Wales - The Issues

As the Minister for Climate Change stated the housing crisis in Wales is a “huge and
complex” issue! with many component parts. We recognise the lack of pet friendly
housing within the PRS is one part of a wider issue affecting the rented sector, such
as a lack of supply, unaffordability and insecurity, but we believe it is an important
issue which — if solved — will have a beneficial impact on the lives of many people in
Wales.

The recently implemented Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 has offered additional
protection to renters across tenures in Wales, such as extended eviction notice
periods and protection from eviction during the first 6 months of a tenancy. However,
the Act unfortunately does little to offer any additional protection to tenants who wish
to keep pets in their property.

An additional cause for concern with regard to the lack of pet friendly housing in the
PRS, is the growing number of people living in temporary accommodation? in Wales.
The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 means that local authorities are able to discharge
their duty to homeless applicants via an offer of private rented accommodation.
However, the lack of pet friendly housing in the PRS can mean that for many people,
this offer may not be suitable and would require them to relinquish their dog, remain
stuck in temporary accommodation or potentially run the risk of being considered
“‘intentionally homeless” by refusal of an offer of perceived suitable accommodation.

1 https://lwww.westerntelegraph.co.uk/news/19421295.climate-change-minister-julie-james-visits-st-
davids-announce-housing-crisis-action/
2 https://www.gov.wales/homelessness-accommodation-provision-and-rough-sleeping-january-2023

© Dogs Trust 2023 Pack Page @&istered charity numbers: 227523 & SC037843



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

Between December 2022 and end of March 2023, Dogs Trust’s data shows that 118
people who enquired about handing their dogs over to our Bridgend and Cardiff
rehoming centres cited “a change in accommodation or rental agreement” as a
reason for relinquishing their dog(s) to us. UK-wide, Dogs Trust received over 50,000
handover enquiries last year — our busiest year on record — and around 1 in 10 dog
owners calling us cite issues with housing as the reason for needing to rehome their
dog.

In a recent YouGov survey commissioned by Dogs Trust, only 8% of renters with
pets say their home was advertised as pet friendly. Dogs Trust’s data shows a
significant need across South Wales for pet friendly housing. Given that this data
only covers our two rehoming centres in Bridgend and Cardiff and to Dogs Trust
services users, we are concerned about the scale of this need across Wales.

The recent pressures caused by the cost of living crisis are also exacerbating the
housing crisis in Wales.

Spock’s story

Spock was a former racing greyhound adopted via Dogs Trust. He moved in with his
new family in rented accommodation and had permission from the landlord. The
family had lived in the house for many years and felt very settled. However, as the
cost of living began to rise, the family were forced to find new, more affordable
housing. They were unable to find pet friendly accommodation, despite having
references from the existing landlord. The family were forced to hand Spock back
into the care of Dogs Trust. He has gone on to find a new home.

Our research demonstrates there are a wide range of benefits associated with
owning a dog® or pet. The PRS in Wales and across the UK is a huge barrier to many
people accessing and benefitting from pet ownership, yet research shows that
companion animals such as dogs provide benefits to people with mental health

3 https://www.dogstrust.org.uk/dog-advice/getting-dog/dog-ready/benefits-of-owning-a-dog

Pack Page 94



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

conditions?, more than 90% of pet owners reported that their pet helped them cope
through lockdown during the Covid-19 pandemic®. Dog ownership is strongly linked
to a longer life, especially among heart attack and stroke survivors® and a further
study showed that pet ownership can be a “catalyst” in developing networks and
relationships between people in local communities’. More broadly, statistics show?® an
average pet owner in the UK reporting that pet ownership positively impacts their
physical and mental health. We do not believe that private renters should be
excluded from experiencing these health benefits, nor simply the joy of pet
companionship.

Despite the clear benefits of pet ownership, the lack of protection for tenants wishing
to keep pets is an ongoing concern. It is important to understand why so many PRS
landlords do not support renting to pet owners, particularly as pet ownership can
support key priority areas of the Welsh Government such as Healthy Weight: Healthy
Wales® and Connected Communities?©.

In our recent YouGov survey, nearly 1 in 4 landlords (24%) said that nothing would
make them allow pets in their properties. A 2022 survey by Shelter Cymru!! showed
that over half of landlords surveyed (57%) said they don’t, or would prefer not to let to
people with pets. This shows why legislative change is needed, in addition to
changing societal attitudes and/or perceptions.

4 https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-018-1613-2#Sec4

5 https://www.york.ac.uk/news-and-events/news/2020/research/pets-survey-lockdown-loneliness/

6 https://newsroom.heart.org/news/dog-ownership-associated-with-longer-life-especially-among-heart-
attack-and-stroke-survivors

7 https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0122085#sec006

8 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1331597/pet-health-benefits-for-owners-in-the-uk/

9 https://www.gov.wales/healthy-weight-strategy-healthy-weight-healthy-wales

10 https://www.gov.wales/loneliness-and-social-isolation-connected-communities

11 https://sheltercymru.org.uk/policy _and_research/can-i-get-a-home-barriers-to-getting-a-private-
rented-home-in-wales/

Pack Page 95



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

Dogs Trust’s findings show that nearly two thirds of landlords (64%) choose not to
rent to pet owners for fear of damage to the property. Complaints from neighbours
(47%) and potential flea infestations (31%) were also common responses from
landlords. Yet only a small minority (16%) of landlords reported damage to properties
caused by pets, or complaints from neighbours and only 8% of landlords reported
issues with fleas, suggesting a significant gap between perceived issues and actual
issues relating to tenants with pets. 31% of landlords who have never been asked to
keep a pet said they would decline this request if made by a tenant. This suggests a
perception problem with regard to tenants with pets, as opposed to being based on a
landlord’s prior experience of problems.

Only 16% of landlords reported that the Renting Homes (Fees Etc.) (Wales) Act 2019
would make them less likely to let to a tenant with pets, compared to 51% of
landlords who reported that the Act made no difference to this decision.

Zoe and Rudy* — a Hope Project!? Case Study from Wales

“I have been staying on friends’ sofas for about 6-7 months now. Unfortunately,
having a dog makes it so much more difficult for me to find any housing. There is
such a stigma around dogs, people think they are dirty and always cause damage to
furniture.

As soon as | say to a landlord that | have a dog, they are not interested in me
because of their blanket bans on pets. | have offered to pay a higher deposit and
have suggested more frequent inspections but | have had no success so far. Even
the emergency accommodation | was initially offered refused to accept Rudy.

| don'’t think they understood how much we had been through together and they
suggested kennelling for him, | just couldn’t do it. | rescued Rudy when he was 7
months old. We have been together 4 and a half years now. Rudy is everything to me
— he’s the reason | get up in the morning. He gives me a purpose — | take him to the

12 https://www.dogstrusthopeproject.org.uk/

Pack Page 96

© Dogs Trust 2023 Registered charity numbers: 227523 & SC037843



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

beach, he runs around. And simply watching him being free and happy is the reason

I don’t give up. He reminds me that it’s not worth giving up on everything. My worries
and anxiety are still there but as soon as he puts his head on me, | feel such comfort.
No matter how alone | feel sometimes, with him I’'m never alone. The fear disappears
when | see him in the morning.

The Hope Project has been such a relief for me. | know that if Rudy needs any vet
treatment, he will be taken care of. | don'’t feel like a bad owner anymore. The Hope
Project has changed my life and Rudy’s life immensely — | don’t feel guilt and | don’t
feel like | am letting him down anymore. To be completely honest, you have helped
me keep my dog. | used to think he would be better off with another family who could
afford to look after him properly. But he has been able to stay with me thanks to your
help. And | can’t put into words how much | appreciate this.

The pandemic has been so difficult for me because of my anxiety. And if | didn’t have
Rudy, | probably wouldn’t have made it through the pandemic. He gives me the
stability | need to face everything on a day-to-day basis”.

*Names altered for anonymity
Pet Friendly Housing in Wales - The Solutions

While we recognise that the lack of pet friendly housing in the PRS is one part of a
wider issue, this is clearly exacerbating an already challenging situation.

Dogs Trust is opposed to blanket “No Pet” policies across all tenures, including the
PRS. We do support housing providers who act reasonably against genuine cases of
nuisance and/or irresponsible behaviour. We would, however, emphasise that the
vast majority of dog owners are considerate and responsible, as the data above
shows, given the low numbers of reported issues by landlords in the Welsh PRS.

There are a wide range of benefits for both tenants/contract holders and landlords in
the PRS relating to pet ownership. 1 in 5 renters (19%) say they would stay in a
home longer if they were allowed to keep a pet, and more than 1 in 3 (37%) of
landlords said they would allow a pet if it would make a tenant stay longer.

Pack Page 97
© Dogs Trust 2023 Registered charity numbers: 227523 & SC037843



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

A key part of the solution to this issue is to improve understanding between landlords
and tenants, and to address some of the myths and stigma around pets living in
rented properties. The Welsh Government and Senedd have a key role to play in this
respect, driving this awareness and working with stakeholders, including local
authorities and the 3" sector, to generate impact via culture change. Dogs Trust is
leading the way, with our Lets With Pets!3 scheme providing advice and support to
tenants, landlords and letting agencies with the aim of improving access to the PRS.
Through this scheme, we have seen many positive experiences from landlords who
have agreed to pets in their properties, illustrated by data from a 2021 YouGov
survey commissioned by Dogs Trust showing that 73% of landlords who allowed
have allowed pets have reported no problems.

The Minister for Climate Change has made reference!* to pet friendly housing being
subject to UK consumer protection laws, however given that both housing and animal
welfare is devolved to Wales, we believe that the Welsh Government should act to
equalise access to housing across all tenures for pet owners, with the PRS being the
priority, given the particular struggles that private renters face in finding suitable
accommodation. .

Policy proposals are already developing in Scotland'® and England?®, strengthening
renters’ abilities to keep pets in their home, which have received strong support from
renters and animal charities. In England, the UK Government’s A Fairer Private
Rented Sector white paper states that the government will “legislate to ensure
landlords do not unreasonably withhold consent when a tenant requests to have a
pet in their home, with the tenant able to challenge a decision.” In Scotland, 94% of
responses to the Scottish Government’s “New Deal for Tenants” consultation!’

13 https://www.letswithpets.org.uk/

14 https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/86865

15 https://www.gov.scot/news/a-new-deal-for-tenants/

16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-fairer-private-rented-sector

17 https://www.gov.scot/publications/new-deal-tenants-analysis-report-responses-consultation-
exercise/

Pack Page 98



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

thought that the right to keep pets should be introduced as a right in the social sector,
and that any approach should be tenure-neutral. Dogs Trust highly recommends
that these plans are similarly adopted in Wales, both to protect dog and human
welfare and improve tenants’ rights.

We believe that legislative change — such as is being proposed in England and
Scotland - is required in addition to any culture change, as a safeguard for future
generations and their right to benefit from pet ownership. Consensus on tackling “No
Pet” clauses already exists cross-party in the Senedd. In July 2022, Luke Fletcher
MS led a debate!® on a Member’s Legislative Proposal calling for a ban on “No Pet”
clauses in rented accommodation. The motion was supported by 30 Members,
including the Leaders of both the Welsh Conservatives and Plaid Cymru and every
Welsh Labour MS outside of Government*®.

Additionally in 2020, Dogs Trust partnered with Jack Sargeant MS and a number of
Welsh housing organisations?® to produce our ‘Pet Friendly Paw-licy’ document,
giving guidance on supporting pet owners living in, or trying to access temporary
accommodation.

Dogs Trust believes that the Local Government and Housing Committee can play a
key role in fostering this cross-party support, bringing stakeholders together to
propose recommendations to the Welsh Government with the aim of equalising
access for pet owners across tenures, but specifically the PRS.

18 https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/12901#A73329

19 https://record.senedd.wales/VoteOutcome/12901#V3783

20 https://www.leaderlive.co.uk/news/18825856.jack-sargeant-ms-teams-six-national-charities-call-pet-
friendly-paw-licy/

Pack Page 99



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

Pet Friendly Housing in Wales - What Dogs Trust is Doing

Lets with Pets was set up by Dogs Trust in 2009 to encourage landlords and letting
agencies to accept tenants with pets and to make the house hunting process easier
for pet owners in the PRS. Sadly, one of the main reasons people hand over their
dogs to us is problems finding rental accommodation that will accept pets. As the
PRS accounts for more than 200,000 households?! in Wales, people giving up pets
because of accommodation issues is a problem that has been increasing over the
last few years.

The Hope Project is a combined scheme running for almost 30 years that helps dog
owners experiencing homelessness with access to homelessness and support
services and veterinary care. The Veterinary Scheme provides free veterinary
treatment to dogs whose owners are experiencing or at risk of homelessness . Dogs
who are registered on the scheme are able to access free flea and worming
treatments, vaccinations, neutering and microchipping. Dogs Trust will also cover the
cost of most additional essential and emergency treatments that the dogs may need.

The scheme, run with the help of local veterinary practices and homelessness
organisations, can support any dog owner experiencing or at risk of homelessness
across the UK. We work with partner vet practices in five towns and cities in Wales.

The Welcoming Dogs endorsement scheme works with homelessness services and
housing providers to encourage them to accept clients with dogs. Dogs Trust offers
bespoke advice and support to homelessness services around becoming dog-friendly
so that we can ensure that people and their pets can stay together.

21 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-
by-year-tenure

Pack Page 100

© Dogs Trust 2023 Registered charity numbers: 227523 & SC037843



Dogs Trust May 2023

- r
Q2

DogsTrust

The Freedom Project, which expanded to Wales in 2022, is a free specialist fostering
service for dogs belonging to people fleeing from domestic abuse. Freedom was set
up over 18 years ago and has been operating in several English regions and across
all of Scotland. Research indicates a strong link between animal abuse and domestic
abuse, with perpetrators often threatening or harming a pet in order to intimidate and
control their partner. Families and individuals fleeing domestic abuse are usually
unable to take their pets with them into a refuge so in many cases they are reluctant
to leave their home until they know there is somewhere safe for their pets. Dogs
Trust, alongside other specialist pet fostering services in the UK, offers a solution.

Through our work on these projects, we know dogs can have a hugely positive
impact on a person’s quality of life, providing companionship, a sense of purpose and
love, and in some cases, a reason to live. With this and the huge number of dogs
acquired during the pandemic in mind, we welcome the renewed debate in Wales, on
how best to encourage more pet-friendly properties.

Pack Page 101



Papur 11 / Paper 11

Consultation response

Local Government & Housing Committee inquiry
Keeping pets in private rented accommodation - May 2023

RSPCA Cymru welcomes the opportunity to contribute to the Local Government and Housing
Committee’s inquiry into the private rented sector. The RSPCA has long called for more support for pet
owners who rent in Wales, to prevent prospective tenants from having to choose between accessing
rented accommodation and keeping companion animals.

RSPCA Cymru strongly believes allowing pets in private rented properties can yield wide-ranging social
benefits, help promote responsible animal ownership and facilitate happy, healthy tenants. The positive
physical and mental health benefits companion animals provide their owners with are well-known and
widely established. Pets can combat loneliness by providing comfort and companionship to their owners -
many of whom consider their pet to be a member of their respective families.

Pet ownership - and renting - is on the rise, along with living costs. The number of households who
have companion animals has been on the rise in recent years - in 2015, the National Survey for Wales
found that 47% of households owned a pet'. According to the latest National Survey for Wales which
featured questions on pet ownership, 53% of households in Wales now have a pet. Welsh Government
statistics also estimate that 451,000 (33.5%) people in Wales rent their properties - an increase of almost
3% since 20112,

The Committee’s welcome focus on pet ownership in the private rental sector comes at a time when
renters are facing significant challenges in terms of rising costs and high demand for properties. Statistics
published by the Office for National Statistics show private rental prices in Wales increased by 3.2% in the
12 months to October 2022, with this being the highest annual percentage charge since records began in
2010. This trend is showing no sign of slowing as Wales' average rental values increased by 11.0% in
March 2023 compared to the same period in 2022, according to HomeLet. In April, it was reported that
tenant demand had reached a five month high throughout the UK, while the supply of rental properties is
currently declining®.

With the costs associated with - and the demand for - rental accommodation still rising, we are concerned
that pet owners who find themselves having to seek accommodation against the backdrop of the cost of
living crisis could struggle to find suitable housing. This could potentially lead to further increases in
animal abandonments and the number of pets needing to be rehomed, as well as homelessness figures if
renters refuse to give up their animals.

As it stands, the number of animals coming into our care is up by more than a quarter (27%) in
comparison to last year. Problems around keeping pets in rented accommodation are a common reason



https://www.gov.wales/national-survey-wales-headline-results-april-2021-march-2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/october2022
https://homelet.co.uk/homelet-rental-index/wales
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/royal-institution-of-chartered-surveyors-deals-yorkshire-humber-hexham-b2318835.html
https://www.gov.wales/housing-wales-census-2021-html
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/national-survey-wales-pet-welfare-2014-15.pdf

as to why some find themselves faced with no choice other than to surrender their companion animals.
With our centres and many other animal rescues in Wales currently full to capacity, a change in legislation
that looks towards making the keeping of companion animals in private rental accommodation a legal
right could help ensure that less people need to give up their pets. This could also create much-needed
homes for companion animals while helping to alleviate pressure on charities and the rescue sector.

Positively, the Welsh Government shares the RSPCA'’s relevant best practice guide with private landlords
and agents through Rent Smart Wales. Nevertheless, accessing rented accommodation with companion
animals tends to pose many challenges to private rental tenants as landlords may be apprehensive about
taking requests for pets through fear of an animal damaging the property, or causing a nuisance.

Last May, we surveyed 144 current and prospective renters to establish whether pet ownership is a
common barrier to those seeking private rental accommodation in Wales®*. Our survey found that 86.5%
had experienced difficulties when trying to rent with a pet, while almost 60% of respondents had
previously been refused a pet by their landlord.

Wales risks lagging behind on renting with pets. Recent estimates from the UK Government suggest
that only seven per cent of private landlords advertise pet-friendly properties®. However, this number could
actually be lower in Wales as England introduced model tenancy agreements that specifically discourage
blanket bans from pet ownership in 2021. Under these agreements, landlords need to object in writing
within 28 days of a written pet request from a tenant and provide a good reason if it is to be declined - with
keeping the pet the default scenario. While we would welcome a similar approach in Wales, as these
tenancy agreements are not statutory, we are calling for the Welsh Government to go even further by
making the keeping of pets a legal default in the private housing sector.

Unlike in England, landlords in Wales can request an additional, separate deposit to cover themselves
against any potential damage caused by pets at the end of the tenancy. Meanwhile, landlords in England
have the option of charging up to five weeks’ rent as a deposit, which could include a pet deposit, while
landlords in Scotland can change up the two months’ rent. However, with any additional costs for a pet
adding to the expense of the usual deposit and rent advances many agents and landlords require before
a tenant moves in, this might not be a viable option for all pet owning renters. Meanwhile, making pets a
legal default in tenancy agreements, unless there is justifiable reason not to, such as concerns for animal
welfare, would cover all pet owners regardless of their financial circumstances.

The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 came into force in December 2022 but there is little reference to
pet ownership included within the associated guidance for this legislation. While pets can be included as
an ‘additional term’ in rental contracts under this Act, this falls short of making the keeping of pets a legal
default in tenancy agreements. The explanatory guidance relevant to this legislation states that "additional
terms are agreed between the landlord and contract holder"® - which suggests that landlords could
potentially still refuse pets should they wish to do so. RSPCA Cymru has long called for a change in law
to prevent private landlords initiating blanket bans on the keeping of pets in private rental properties and
had previously hoped that this would be featured in the Renting Homes (Wales) Act.

Public and political support for pet owning renters is strong. A petition, which RSPCA Cymru has
supported, calling for the use of ‘no pet clauses’ in tenancy agreements to be banned in Wales, is
currently under the consideration of the Petitions Committee. In correspondence associated with this
petition, it has been stated that following the commencement of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 “a
landlord cannot unreasonably withhold a request to have a pet”. Unfortunately, there is no further
explanation as to what would be considered ‘reasonable’ in terms of refusing a pet in the legislation’s

4 The survey was conducted in May 2022 and asked 144 people a series of questions on renting with pets. The survey was
created via Google and advertised on the RSPCA's social m

8 Nat|onal Re3|dent|al Landlord Association - Make your voice heard in new Welsh tenancies consultatlon 8 June 2021


https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/244977
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s135266/Correspondence%20from%20the%20Chair%20of%20the%20Local%20Government%20and%20Housing%20Committee%2017%20March%202023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-standard-tenancy-agreement-to-help-renters-with-well-behaved-pets

guidance. What a prospective tenant would deem reasonable could differ significantly from what a
landlord would consider reasonable, with there being no dispute resolution mechanism in place as it
stands.

The aforementioned survey found that a clear majority (64%) of those who had been previously refused
pets were not given a reason why by their landlord. Concerns around damage to the property were
among the most common reasons given to those who did receive an explanation, while some landlords
were also fearful of insurance issues as well as the ‘smell’ of pets.

The Consumer Rights Act 2015, which prohibits ‘unfair terms’ in rental contracts, is also referred to in the
guidance for the Renting (Homes) Wales Act. Any ‘additional terms’ in contracts, such as pet clauses, are
required to comply with this Act in terms of fairness. A ‘pets clause’ would allow a contract-holder to ask
for permission to keep a pet, which the landlord cannot unreasonably refuse. Nevertheless, with the
inclusion of a pet clause still being classed as an ‘additional term’, there is no legal requirement for them
to be included in a contract as standard or if a landlord refuses.

While the Consumer Rights Act means a blanket ban on keeping pets in a tenancy agreement could be
struck out if challenged in court, tenants might find legally challenging ‘no pets clauses’ an expensive and
time consuming process. With a high number of adverts for rental properties also stating ‘no pets’ -
allowing prospective landlords to refuse pets before a prospective tenant has even viewed a property -
this legislation also doesn’t help those who are seeking to enter the rental market with a companion
animal and/or those without an existing contract.

As to whether most current and prospective tenants would be aware of the legislation above and their
legal rights in terms of keeping pets in rented accommodation is also questionable. Our survey also found
that 87% of respondents felt that there was not enough advice available for private renters who have or
want pets, with a similar amount (81%) stating that the Welsh Government is not doing enough to support
them.

Reducing the barriers pet owners who rent face has strong cross-party support in the Senedd. A relevant
legislative proposal tabled by Luke Fletcher MS was debated in the Senedd last July’. A clear majority of
eligible MSs (30/49) voted in favour of the introduction of legislation that would ban ‘no pets’ clauses in
rented accommodation, with only seven members voting against the proposals. The proposed bill would
also -

e introduce a standard tenancy agreement similar to the UK Government’s model tenancy
agreement announced in January 2021;

e propose a series of measures which would ensure that responsible pet owners are not treated
unfairly as a consequence of the type of accommodation they live in;

e allow consent for pets as the legal default in social housing and the private rented sector, unless
there is a justifiable reason not to do so

This RSPCA Cymru-proposed bill is currently included in the Senedd’s legislative ballot for Members Bills.
With this ballot being ‘random’ and infrequent, we remain concerned that unless legislation is progressed
by the Welsh Government, pet owners will continue to find themselves at a disadvantage when seeking
appropriate accommodation. With the number of renters - along with the number of households with
companion animals - on the rise in Wales, it is vital that more support is made available for pet owning
renters. We therefore urge the Local Government and Housing Committee to recommend that the Welsh
Government legislates to establish a fairer balance between tenants’ rights and the rights of landlords,
who could also benefit from these proposals by maintaining longer-term, successful letting arrangements.

Pack Page 104

7 https://business.senedd.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=700&MId=12901



https://www.gov.wales/renting-homes-frequently-asked-questions-landlords
https://www.gov.wales/renting-homes-frequently-asked-questions-landlords
https://business.senedd.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=700&MId=12901

Papur 12 / Paper 12

PROTECTION

Private Rented Sector
Local Government and Housing Committee Consultation

Introduction

Cats Protection is the UK'’s largest cat welfare charity. Our Welsh network includes six
volunteer-run branches, two adoption centres (Bridgend and Wrexham), as well as eight
high-street charity shops which also offer advice on cat care.

Landlords not allowing pets is one of the top five reasons Cats Protection takes in cats for
rehoming. The charity launched its Purrfect Landlords campaign in 2018 to encourage
landlords to allow responsible tenants to keep pets.

Summary

e According to private tenants in Wales, the percentage of tenancy agreements which
allow pets is 27%. This is the lowest in the UK.

® 94% of Welsh cat owners consider their cat part of the family.

e Due to the low percentage of tenancy agreements which allow pets many
responsible tenants must make the heart-breaking decision to give up their pets.

e Cats Protection is calling for a statutory right for responsible pet owners to keep a
pet in a rented property.

The importance of allowing pets in the Private Rented Sector (PRS)

Wales is a nation of cat lovers with 560,000 owned cats in Wales and over one in four
households owning one or more cats®. Therefore, any proposals to make it easier for
tenants in the private rented sector to own or keep their cats will be beneficial to a
significant portion of the Welsh population.

There are many benefits of cat ownership. 94% of Welsh cat owners view their cat(s) as part
of the family and 90% says their cat(s) bring them joy?. When we consider these statistics, it
is alarming to think that our Welsh Adoption Centres took in 78 cats (an average of 1 cat
every 4 days) as a result of landlords disallowing pets last year.

Pet ownership can also be beneficial to mental health. 38% of owners explicitly state that
they got a cat to reduce loneliness/anxiety.3 Research carried out by Cats Protection and the
Mental Health Foundation found that 87% of people who owned a cat felt it had a positive
impact on their well-being.* A 2021 study® explored people’s experiences of the role of their

! cats-report-2022-wales.pdf

2 cats-report-2022-wales.pdf

3 cats-report-2022-wales.pdf

4 Cats marvellous for mental health says survey | Cats Protection

5 Roxanne D. Hawkins, Emma L. Hawkins & Liesbeth Tip (2021) “I Can’t Give Up When | Have Them to Care
for”: People’s Experiences of Pets and Their Mental Health, Anthrozods, 34:4, 543-562

Pack Page 105


https://www.cats.org.uk/media/11909/cats-report-2022-wales.pdf
https://www.cats.org.uk/media/11909/cats-report-2022-wales.pdf
https://www.cats.org.uk/media/11909/cats-report-2022-wales.pdf
https://www.cats.org.uk/mediacentre/pressreleases/moggies-marvellous-for-mental-health

PROTECTION

pets in reducing or exacerbating symptoms of their mental health conditions and general
well-being. Responses of people with diagnosed mental health conditions and those who
self-reported to have been struggling with mental health recently and their relationship with
their animals were analysed. The responses were generally positive, and participants stated
that owning animals helped alleviate some of their symptom:s.

With so many positive benefits to be enjoyed from owning a cat, it is disappointing that a
significant number of people feel unable or are prevented from having a cat in their lives

due to the type of housing they live in.

Perception vs Reality: Pets in rented properties

According to Cats Protection and Dogs Trust research conducted in 2021 in partnership
with YouGov, there are inconsistencies between the narratives surrounding allowing pets in
rented properties and the realities. For example, the most common reason landlord refuses
to allow cats in a rented property is over concern that the cat will cause damage to the
floors, walls, furniture or fittings. However, 73% of the landlords we surveyed who allowed
cats in the property reported no issues. In most cases, if damage to the property did occur,
the cost should be covered by the security deposit.’

There are also inconsistencies around the number of landlords who claim to allow pets and
the actual amount of properties advertised as pet-friendly in the private rented sector. At a
UK level, 46% of the landlords surveyed stated that they allowed pets, however, the
proportion of tenants saying their tenancy agreement allows pets is lower than this at 31% —
in Wales this figure drops to 27% which is the lowest in the UK. In addition, only 9% of
properties in the UK were advertised as pet friendly.®

The barriers that are put up for those who rent mean that too often cat owning renters face
the heart-breaking situation of being forced to give up their beloved cat because of a lack of
pet-friendly rented homes. Ultimately, the findings of this survey suggest that there is a
need to create a statutory right for responsible renters to keep pets to ensure that both
renters and landlords are given a fair deal. Cats Protection is keen to discuss this further
with the Local Government and Housing Committee.

Cats in the PRS: Cats Protection’s work and suggested actions

Cats Protection is campaigning to ensure that responsible tenants can have the opportunity
to enjoy the companionship of a cat by calling for a statutory right for responsible tenants to
keep pets. Cats Protection strongly believes that people who own pets should be protected
from blanket bans.

6 Pets and Landlords 2021, YouGov
7 Pets and Landlords 2021, YouGov
8 Pets and Landlords 2021, YouGov

Pack Page 106



PROTECTION

Blanket “no-pet” clauses are a significant barrier to cat ownership. It is estimated that up to
1.5 million more cats could be rehomed if all landlords allowed pets®. Cats Protection
believes introducing a right for responsible tenants to keep pets will stop tenants from being
unfairly excluded from pet ownership simply because of their type of rented home. Cats
Protection also believes that a statutory right for responsible tenants to keep pets should
benefit tenants in existing and new tenancies and therefore recommends any changes to
the law should also apply to tenancy renewals.

Cats Protection believes it is not reasonable for a landlord to refuse consent for tenants to
keep a pet out of fear their property might be damaged, when evidence shows this is most
likely not going to be the case. Some landlords might feel like they need extra measures in
place before they would be happy to allow pet owning tenants. Cats Protection supports
reasonable measures to encourage landlords to allow responsible tenants to keep pets. The
charity advises cat friendly landlords to include pet policies in their tenancy which could
include a clause limiting the number of cats allowed per property. However, with the
backdrop of the cost of living crisis, we need to be mindful that any extra costs to tenants
are not excessive and result in those on low incomes being unable to keep their cats. Cats
Protection is already seeing people relinquishing cats due to financial reasons and home
evictions.

In Wales, as well as in the rest of the UK, there is no statutory right to keep a pet in a rented
property. On the issue of pets in rented accommodation, the Welsh Government states:

“As elsewhere in the UK, we have not legislated to create a statutory right to keep a pet,
landlords and contract-holders are able to agree additional terms covering the keeping of
pets. The explanatory information that must be included in written statements of contracts
makes it clear that all additional terms must comply with the Consumer Rights Act 2015
regarding fairness. Any pet clause as an additional term in the contract should allow a
contract-holder to ask for permission to keep a pet, and the landlord is not allowed to
unreasonably refuse the request.”°

This means that although there are some protections in place for renters in the event of a
pet clause being included in a contract, the inclusion of that clause is entirely optional. Cats
Protection is committed to working with the Local Government and Housing Committee to
introduce new legislation which is fair and affordable for renters with pets and ensures that
landlords feel confident allowing renters with pets in their property. We would like to work
with the Local Government and Housing Committee to help introduce legislation which
provides responsible renters with a statutory right to keep a pet in a rented property unless
there are mitigating circumstances.

9 cats-report-2022-uk.pdf
10 Renting homes: frequently asked guestions (landlords) | GOV.WALES

Pack Page 107


https://www.cats.org.uk/media/11908/cats-report-2022-uk.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/renting-homes-frequently-asked-questions-landlords

PROTECTION

Cats Protection believes it is important that a cat is kept in a property that is suitable for its
needs. The charity does not believe that a property should have a blanket ‘no-pet’ policy
because of its size, location or outdoor space. In most cases, there is a cat suitable for any
property, including flats and properties without a garden — it is a case of getting the right cat
for the right home. Some cats are actually best suited to living indoors, perhaps due to a
disability such as being blind or deaf, or an illness that makes them vulnerable to picking up
infections outside. Other cats just prefer the indoor life. Charities such as Cats Protection
can offer assistance to landlords and tenants to help match the right cat to the most
suitable home. The charity believes that the needs of the cat should be considered when
deciding if a property if suitable.

Refusal to allow pets in a property should be reasonable and be based on the current tenant
and their pet, not based on the landlords’ previous experiences with pet owners. A Pet CV,
like Cats Protection and Dogs Trust’s joint Pet CV, could be used to help determine if the
property is suitable for the pet and if the landlord is reasonably refusing the tenant to keep
a pet. It also highlights that the owner is a responsible pet owner to landlords and letting
agents. The CV sets out details about the animal including if they are neutered,
microchipped, or vaccinated and information about their general behaviour and
temperament. A Pet CV can be a vital tool to help landlords assess if a tenant is a
responsible pet owner.!?

Conclusion

Cats Protection believes there is potential in Wales to create a partnership between
landlords and renters which is fair and reasonable for both sides. Cats Protection also
advocates a more pet-friendly private rented sector because pet ownership can have a
positive impact on the tenant’s life and the landlords by allowing tenants to feel more at
home in the property which can result in tenants potentially staying longer, making business
sense for landlords. Finally it will also help thousands of cats find new homes.

For further information please email: advocacy@Cats.org.uk

11 private tenants | Purrfect Landlords | Cats Protection

Pack Page 108


mailto:advocacy@Cats.org.uk
https://www.cats.org.uk/what-we-do/campaigning/purrfectlandlords/private-tenants

Paper 13
Julie James AS/MS

Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd

Minister for Climate Change

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/JJ/0630/24

John Griffiths MS
Chair

Local Government and Housing Committee

Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear John,

Agendg® 1

e

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

4 March 2024

Thank you for the Local Government and Housing Committee’s report on its Scrutiny of the
Government’s Draft Budget 2024 — 25. We are grateful for the Committee’s work on this.
Please find attached the Welsh Government’s response in relation to Questions 12-16

which relate to Housing.
Yours sincerely,

\

i
f fAda il
(AAVUL D

Julie James AS/MS
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd
Minister for Climate Change

Bae Caerdydd - Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd « Cardiff

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

0300 0604400
Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any coﬁ%ﬁaggiwaﬂelsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales

Local Government and Housing Committee - Draft Budget 2024-25

Housing

Recommendation 12

The Welsh Government must make providing additional funding for the Housing
Support Grant allocation ahead of the final budget a priority and should explore all
possible options for doing so.

Response: Accept

The Welsh Government has provided an additional £5m for the Homelessness
Prevention and Support Grant in the Final Budget, taking the total budget to almost
£220m in 2024/25.

Within this budget, the Minister for Climate Change has allocated an additional £13m
for the Housing Support Grant, taking it to just over £182m in 2024/25. This increase
is intended to help address inflationary pressures in housing support services,
particularly in respect of pay and helping the sector to meet our aspirations around
Fair Work and the Real Living Wage.

Recommendation 13

The Minister for Climate Change should, when the information is available, provide
this Committee with an update on progress made during the 2023-24 financial year
in delivering the Welsh Government’s target of 20,000 new social homes for rent

Response: Accept

The additional affordable housing provision statistical release for 2023-24 is
expected late autumn. This publication will include details of all affordable housing
delivery in 2023-24 and will report on progress towards our target of 20,000 homes
for rent in the social sector.

Recommendation 14

The Welsh Government should provide a comprehensive list of the current state of
remediation plans for high-rise residential buildings and the progress of developers’
remediation works. Details should also be provided as to how the Welsh
Government expect the allocations for building safety in the draft budget to deliver
remediation works in 2024-25

Response: Accept in principle

High level details in respect to developer plans and the progress of works have
already been made available, and there are plans to share these high-level figures
on the Welsh Government website. As is the case in England, details of individual
buildings are not shared publicly. However, developers and Responsible Persons
are asked to share details of planned works with leaseholders through the terms of
the contract.

Pack Page 110



An allocation of £127 million has been made for works in 2024 / 25, which is in line
with anticipated spend and sufficient to undertake surveys, and support remediation
works in orphan, social sector and other buildings requiring support.

Recommendation 15

The Welsh Government should make arrangements for data on social rent increases
across Wales to be made publicly available

Response: Accept in principle
The Welsh Government collects a range of data on social housing stock and rents

(Social housing stock and rents (gov.wales)) including data on the average weekly
rent, which allow for comparison year on year.

In Scotland, social landlords are free to set their own rent increases, which makes it
important for rent data to be published. In Wales, social landlords must adhere to the
maximum rent cap imposed for that year.

As part of our work in reviewing the Welsh Government’s Social Rent and Service
Charge Standard, we will be working with the wider social housing sector to better
understand how we can make more effective use of the range of data we currently
collect. This is an important part of our work to embed affordability at the core of our
future social rent policy, and means assessing the full extent of data availability and
use, including data on income, earnings and wider household costs.

Recommendation 16

The Welsh Government should work with Care and Repair Cymru to explore the
introduction of a grant to rectify hazardous disrepair to enable older people to live
safely and independently and to prevent hospital admissions because of accidents at
home.

Response: Accept in principle

The Independent Living Programme supports a broad range of activity through grants
not only to Care and Repair Cymru and Care and Repair Agencies but also to
Housing Association through Physical Adaptation Grants (PAG) and Local Authorities
via the Enable programme.

We are committed to maintaining our support for this programme which includes
continuing to support Care and Repair agencies, enabling them to deliver small
adaptations rapidly to facilitate timely NHS hospital discharges and preventing
unnecessary hospital admissions. This relieves costs on the NHS and reduces
pressures on domiciliary and residential care.

Pack Page 111


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents

Papur 14 / Paper 14

Agenda Item 6.2

We would like to thank the committee for the opportunity to give evidence. We would like to take
this additional opportunity to provide further clarification and information on a number of our
points.

Tenancy support for autistic and neurodiverse people

Dr Henley explained that they felt that providing routine support for tenants who believe themselves
to be neurodivergent would be beneficial in helping this group to enter and remain in the sector.

To address the data gaps in terms of the needs, including support needs, of autistic people in the
PRS, we are currently conducting research, which we would be happy to share on completion.

Longer term financial support for those who have experienced abuse, to enable them to enter and
remain in the private rented sector.

Domestic abuse is well recognised as a leading cause of women’s homelessness. In 2018-19, among
those households found to be subject to a s73 duty to help secure accommodation under the
Housing (Wales) Act 2014, 18% of single female and 28% of female lone parents gave their main
reason for loss of previous accommodation as violent relationship breakdown, representing 10% of
applications at this stage (figures from StatsWales).

Economic abuse is identified as a category of abuse within the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. It can
operate through housing — for instance, creating rent arrears — or to force or coerce someone into
debt. Economic abuse can affect individuals even after they have left an abuser — for instance directly
through control over child support or mortgage payment, or indirectly through a poor credit rating
due to previous financial control.

We would like to stress the importance of long-term, potentially lifetime, support for those who have
experienced abuse, especially economic abuse, to enable them to enter and remain in the PRS. We
suggest that identified or suspected economic abuse should entitle an individual to access to
interventions intended to reduce the impact of poor credit histories upon ability to secure affordable
PRS accommodation (e.g. bond and first month’s rent). These should be available without requiring
individuals to go through a homelessness application. This is especially important given that other
protections, e.g. within Universal Credit, are time-limited.

The ‘vision’ for the PRS needs to be considered and integrated alongside broader ‘visions’ for
Welsh society.

We feel strongly that discussion around the role of the private rented sector (for instance, the
question of supply) needs to consider wider questions of housing adequacy, which (following Article
11(1) of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights) includes affordability,
tenure security and quality standards.

We especially highlight the importance of considering quality. No national minimum standards apply
to the private rented sector in Wales. In contrast, those renting from social landlords benefit from
the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 2023, which requires social housing in Wales to reach a
minimum quality threshold. Those in the PRS have limited avenues for redress if their homes are not
of a reasonable standard, primarily through potential costly and extended court action. We suggest
that this could be addressed through the introduction of a Housing and Property Tribunal, drawing
on some features of the approach in Scotland, but with a greater emphasis on Alternate Dispute
Resolution, which has been shown to be successful in resolving disputes within the private rented
sector effectively (see Harris, 2020 for a more detailed discussion).

Pack Page 112



Instability

We feel that the impact on children and families of tenure insecurity in the PRS are often overlooked.
We are conducting research to address this gap, which we would be happy to share on completion.
In the interim: census figures suggest that around a fifth (21%) of those living in the PRS in Wales
have dependent children. We have also found that children in the Welsh PRS are more likely than
those in other tenures to have moved at least once in the last 5 years, with their parents more likely
to anticipate moving again within the next year. Preece and Bimpson have also highlighted that
housing insecurity and unaffordability are frequently cited by those experiencing poor mental health
as a causal factor (Preece, Jenny; Bimpson, 2019).

Hazards

Category 1 hazards are those that are or are likely to impact health, wellbeing and/or personal safety.
Based on figures from the Welsh Housing Conditions Survey 2017-18, just under a quarter (23.6%) of
Welsh private rented sector homes contain at least one Category 1 hazard (Based on Nichol, Garrett,
Woodfine, Watkins and Woodham'’s (2019) figures for the costs of poor housing to society in general
and the NHS specifically, poor housing costs Wales an estimated £178 million a year, with a cost to
the NHS of just under eighteen million.

We also note that there exists no quality standards with respect to the private rented sector, unlike
the social rented sector. Yet, following the logic of Article 11(1) of the International Covenant on
Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, there is no logical reason why private renters should be
excluded from rights enjoyed by social renters. We suggest that a Wales-wide quality standard
(similar to, or extending, the Welsh Housing Quality Standard for social housing) should be
introduced to cover private rented housing.

Data gaps

As mentioned previously, we feel there to be two significant gaps. First, around quality within the
Private Rented Sector. It would be very helpful to have a survey similar to the English Household
Survey to assess the quality of Welsh housing across different tenures. Crucially, this would enable
understanding of the differential impact of PRS accommodation (and differing experiences of the
PRS) on different groups in Wales.

Second, we highlighted the importance of data to capture flows into and out of the PRS, particularly
the relationship between the PRS and homelessness. The current StatsWales record has records of
cause of loss of prior housing up to 2018/19; having this regularly updated, and with details (e.g. age,
gender, working status ethnicity, etc) to enable targeted interventions.

We spoke about the importance of access to administrative justice mechanisms (e.g. a dedicated
tribunal system). If this were introduced, it would also offer more data on the extent of existing
issues and challenges within the sector. For instance, it would give additional detail as to the nature
and prevalence of disrepair, rental increases, and unlawful property entry by landlords.Dr Edith
England (Senior Lecturer in Social Policy and Practice, Cardiff Metropolitan University)Dr Josie Henley
(Lecturer in Social Psychology, Cardiff University)

Pack Page 113



Paper 15

Agenter ttedme:8
yfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad

Legislation, Justice and
Constitution Committee

Julie James MS
Minister for Climate Change

Dear Julie,

Legislative Consent Memorandum - Renters (Reform) Bill

Senedd Cymru

Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN
SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru
senedd.cymru/SeneddDCC

0300 200 6565

Welsh Parliament

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN
SeneddLIC@senedd.wales
senedd.wales/SeneddLIC

0300 200 6565

5 March 2024

Further to our invite of 22 February, we are grateful to you for your in principle agreement to attend

We have since received agreement from Business Committee that we can change our slot to a

morning session, so we can confirm that we would like to go ahead with an evidence session with you

10.00 = 10.45 on Monday 11 March.

| am copying this letter to the Chairs of the Local Government and Housing Committee and the

Finance Committee.
We look forward to meeting with you on 11 March.

Yours sincerely,

/%W._Z/;W- ?ax/az!

—

Huw Irranca-Davies
Chair

Pack Page 114

’?E// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament


https://senedd.wales/media/cgjidprv/lcm-ld16303-e.pdf

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a Ite m 9

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 115



	Agenda
	2 Private rented sector - Evidence session 5
	Paper 1
	Paper 2
	Paper 3
	About NUS Wales:
	The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector
	Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young people and people with pets
	How effectively the private rented sector is regulated


	3 Private rented sector - Evidence session 6
	Paper 5
	Paper 6
	Senedd Housing and Local Government Committee inquiry into the Private Rented Sector
	1. The supply, quality and affordability of accommodation in the private rented sector
	2. The challenges currently facing private sector landlords;
	3. The opportunities for greater partnership working between social and private landlords.
	4. Barriers to accessing the private rented sector including challenges facing young people and people with pets;
	5. How effectively the private rented sector is regulated; and
	6. The availability of data on the private rented sector and how it can be improved.



	4 Private rented sector - Evidence session 7
	Paper 8
	Paper 9

	5 Private rented sector - Evidence session 8
	Paper 11
	Paper 12

	6.1 Letter from the Minister for Climate Change - Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25
	6.2 Additional evidence from Dr Edith England and Dr Josie Henley - Private rented sector
	Tenancy support for autistic and neurodiverse people
	Longer term financial support for those who have experienced abuse, to enable them to enter and remain in the private rented sector.
	The ‘vision’ for the PRS needs to be considered and integrated alongside broader ‘visions’ for Welsh society.
	Instability
	Hazards

	Data gaps

	6.3 Letter from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to the Minister for Climate Change - Legislative Consent Memorandum - Renters (Reform) Bill
	9 Social housing supply - Approach to engagement



